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Friday, February 27th, 2009

--- On commencing at 9:37 a.m.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  Every day I arrive here there are different things in front of me.

Good morning, everyone.  Before we begin our in camera session, are there any preliminary matters?

Preliminary Matters:


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, yes.  Could I address a few, Madam Chair?  First of all, I can advise the Board that the company can file this morning some additional undertaking answers, which I will try to get right today, J2.1, J2.6, J3.2.  I believe they're self-explanatory, and I don't need to ask any questions of the witnesses about them.


Secondly, can I advise the Board that there are a couple of minor transcript corrections that have come up?  What I propose to do -- it is nothing very serious.  There are a couple of them that have been brought to my attention that possibly may be important to people.  I don't think so.  But my suggestion is that rather than take time in the hearing with it, I would simply file any corrections that are made to the transcript and I will see that they're circulated electronically.  These will not -- I don't make grammatical corrections.  A couple of them, one had a "not" left out, which may change the meaning of a sentence.  I think everybody understood what was meant.


My proposal is, can I just file periodically, every second day or so, any transcript corrections and see that everybody gets a copy of them?


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  I will also undertake, if there is anything I think is really significant, I will alert people to it, as well.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  The third thing I would like to raise with you, if I could, this morning is a question of timing.  We're on panel 3 now.  I anticipate panel 3 will be done today, hopefully sooner rather than later on a Friday.


Mr. Roger, who is on panel 4, is ill, and I would ask that we stand panel 4 down no matter what happens today to start on Monday.  And, further, AMPCO then would be the only remaining evidence to be heard, the AMPCO witness.  I am going to suggest - I spoke to Mr. Millar about this, and I understand this meets AMPCO's needs, as well - that they be scheduled for Tuesday, if meets the Board's convenience.


MS. CHAPLIN:  That would be fine, thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.


MR. CROCKER:  I should just add, Madam Chair, that we thought that was a great idea until my friend, Mr. Rogers, mentioned that now we're going to -- I'm just teasing.  It's fine.


MS. CHAPLIN:  I guess we have a comedian here today.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, the room is full of them.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Now just before we go in camera, Mr. Thompson, are you the -- I believe you are the only counsel wishing to cross-examine on the in camera matters?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I have some questions.  I don't know about the others, I'm sorry.


MS. CHAPLIN:  No one else has?  Okay.  So if there is nothing else in preliminary, we will now go in camera.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, as I scan the room, I believe everyone here has either signed the undertaking or works for the company or Staff, but I would ask that anyone who has not signed the undertaking or is not with the company or Staff, you have to leave the room now.


Madam Chair, I also have a hook-in with the external link for the broadcast, so I will be able to determine if it is actually off.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.
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MS. CHAPLIN:  I believe we are now off the air.


So, Mr. Thompson.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Panel, I have a few questions about the documents that were filed yesterday.  They were marked as Exhibit XK3.4 and XK3.5, and you should also have with X -- sorry, KX3.4 the response to School's Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 2.  So that you have the complete document that was produced in August.


If you could just put those two documents in front of you, I will pursue my questions.


So in terms of the August document, what you then should have is the highlights sheet, the executive summary, and then schedule A to it, which was the document marked yesterday.  Are we ready?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry I took so long, but, yes, we are.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  The context of these questions is my understanding of the thrust of the evidence given yesterday and earlier.  Let me just tell you where -- what I took from that evidence, and you can correct me if I've got it wrong.


I understood, Mr. Van Dusen, you were suggesting that in its planning and budgeting, Hydro One is very concerned with the year-over-year impact of transmission and distribution rate increases on electricity consumers, and that you are concerned with their ability to absorb these increases?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I understood you to be suggesting that we can find an expression of this concern in the August business plan, as well as in the November budget and outlook.


Were you suggesting that?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I certainly was suggesting that in the November business outlook it's evident.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I understood you to be suggesting that Hydro One's concerns about impacts on ratepayers prompted the company, in the November budget approval process, to take some action to reduce the rate increase burden on ratepayers compared to the August plans.  Is that what you were saying?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Not exactly.  I think what I was saying is that by November, the senior management team was well aware of the economic downturn and the impact on such things as the load forecast.  By that time, we had also had some preliminary understanding from the government of the types of things that they were going to be moving forward, that eventually have become the Green Energy Act.


At that point in time, they were taking a look at the transmission rate submission.  The transmission rate submission was taken actually to the February board meeting, the -- sorry, the updated.  The 2008 update was taken to the February board meeting, but, in November, they were made aware of the impacts the economy would have on Hydro One as a whole and on the transmission business.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So you weren't suggesting -- I misunderstood.  You weren't suggesting that some action was taken to reduce the burden in November compared to the August plans.


Were you suggesting that in the November plans Hydro One -- November plans and subsequently, Hydro One has done nothing to increase the burden on ratepayers?  Were you suggesting that?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I am suggesting that.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So with that background, let's just look at these documents to test these assertions.


If we could just start with the August document and looking at the highlights portion of it, the highlights are drawn from the executive summary; am I correct?  Then the attachments to the executive summary are the basis for statements in the summary?


So the particulars are at the back and the -- at the front of the paper; is that fair?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, understood.


MR. THOMPSON:  In terms of the impacts on ratepayers, what we see in the highlights is not so much an expression of any concern, but simply a statement in the second-last bullet point of what those impacts will be, a little over 6 percent in 2009, 12 percent in 2010 for transmission.


Then a combined application was being contemplated for transmission and distribution 2011, so you had 10.7 percent for transmission, 16.9 percent for distribution.


So a bald statement of impacts, but no expression of serious concern for ratepayers or some trade-offs that were being made; is that fair?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  I think what needs to be kept in mind in terms of what this document is and the documents in front of us, this represents Hydro One's business plan, and then budgeting presentations to the board of directors.  It incorporates all of Hydro One's subsidiaries, unless specifically noted that we're talking about transmission or distribution.


So most of the results and most of the impacts are given for Hydro One Inc., the consolidated entity, which would include remotes, telecom and Hydro One Brampton results included.


So the focus of the document is to convey to the board of directors management's recommendations, in terms of overall plans.  Included in that is rate impact information, and of course the rate impact information gives the board of directors the opportunity to review and consolidate their views on the rate increases that they wish to -- the company to go forward with in its rate transmissions -- sorry, its rate submissions.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, am I correct, just pausing for a moment, that what was put forward in August was approved without alteration?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I believe that to be true.  I'm pretty sure that's the case.


MR. THOMPSON:  In terms of the executive summary, at page 3 and the top of page 4 we really -- we see, again, the percentage numbers stated there.  Those are the numbers that find their way to the highlights page.  Is that fair?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it is.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, the August plan indicated on page 3, the top of -- sorry, page 4, if you look at the first full paragraph.  It was contemplating distribution rate increases under IRM in 2009 and 2010, correct?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  The numbers being presented there were 2 percent productivity less -- sorry, 2 percent escalation less productivity, which would be a 1 percent rate increase, right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that was our anticipation at the time, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  All right.  Then let's move forward to the November budget and Outlook document.  This is Exhibit K3.5.  Here again the format is similar.  There is an update -- or, sorry, there is a highlights part of it, which is on the third page of the document that -- third copied page of the document that was produced yesterday.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.


MR. THOMPSON:  If I look at those highlights, compared to the August highlights, there's actually nothing being said about rate impacts in the highlight section.  So the numbers have actually fallen off the front page.  Is that fair?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that in and of itself suggests to me that rate impacts weren't exactly priority items.  They don't even make the highlights section.  Is that a fair conclusion?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  When we come back to the Board in November, one of the items that we want to do is update our board of directors, in terms of specific changes that have happened since the material they approved in August, and also to give them a clearer idea of the exact budget that will be used for 2009 for reporting purposes.


So the fact that the numbers are not on the front page highlight per se I wouldn't take necessarily as a lack of concern or interest.  There is a very -- a more informed section on page 3 of the executive summary on the regulatory section that goes through and talks about the regulatory situation, and then on page 5, the discussion under the risk analysis session at the end of page 5 there talks about the economic risk, and as we go through the details of the documents we can see more material that was presented to the Board in that regard.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  If you go to page 2 of the November document, and if you could just turn back to page 2 of the August document.  I just wanted to compare these two, because by November we now know your actuals in '08 are lower than you were anticipating in August, and we now know the economic meltdown is a reality.  That's fair, isn't it?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  We have a better projection of the '08 numbers, but we did not know the final '08 numbers in November.  Once again, this is a November board memo, so all the material that would have been produced and put in this would have probably been based on Q3 results, or perhaps October results.


MR. THOMPSON:  But just quickly comparing executive summary cost estimate and recovery in November to August, the capital expenditures and OM&A -- and is company-wide, I understand -- are virtually unchanged.  Very small numbers.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  But in terms of net income, 2009, an increase of some 7 million.  But in 2010, in November you are forecasting higher net income, right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  So not less for Hydro One in November.  More for Hydro One in November -- or more for the government.  More for Hydro One's owner.  Fair?  In 2010 and a little bit in 2009.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Certainly the change in our net income projection had changed between the August time frame and the November time frame, and it does increase in '10 and '11 vis-à-vis what was shown to the Board in August, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, as you point out at page 3 in regulatory, we have the description of impacts.  And again, looking at the bottom of page 3, it is a little over 6 percent in '09 and a little over 12 percent in 2010, approximately the same as in the August presentation?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's to be expected, because there were no real changes in capital or OM&A expenditures.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But if we go over to page 4, at the top of the page, in terms of the November plan, whereas in August you were saying we were going to do 2009 and 2000 and -- sorry, 2008 and 2000 -- let me back up.


You were anticipating a 2009 and 2010 distribution rate increase on the basis of IRM, right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And now we see by November that plan's been changed.  You've now -- the budget anticipates a return to cost-of-service for 2010.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct, for the distribution business, it does.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the only reason you would do that would be to get more than you could get under IRM, right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  The only reason we would do that is that the company did a careful investigation of our needs to maintain in the distribution system in a safe and reliable manner, and the company made a judgment that the OEB's IRM formula may not generate the type of revenues that were required for us to do the work that we thought was necessary and we feel we can defend in front of this Board as justified.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  So by November of 2010, you had decided, For 2010 we're going to go back to the Board rather than wait 'til 2011 as part of our original plan on distribution.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  Our intention at this point in time is to file in 2009 a cost-of-service application for '10 and '11.  And by the way, sir, that change in assumption is what largely contributes to the change in the net income factor.


MR. THOMPSON:  But I suggest to you that's a decision taken which increases the burden on ratepayers compared to the August plan.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  You are now talking about our distribution business, sir, and we feel that to have
gone -- to go forward with a cost-of-service application, we will be able to bring forward to this Board the appropriate evidence to show that the work we're doing is absolutely necessary and required, and much of it mandated by the government through its initiatives.


MR. THOMPSON:  But you told me at the outset you didn't do anything in November to increase the -- in term of planning and budgeting to increase the burden on ratepayers.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm sorry, sir --

MR. THOMPSON:  That decision in and of itself, I suggest to you, increases the burden.


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, if I could just interrupt.  He was talking -- this is a transmission case, Mr. Thompson.  He's talking now about distribution.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, fine.  This is a plan that covers both.  Presumably you are familiar with the documents we're talking about.

MR. ROGERS:  In fairness to him, the answer he gave earlier was in respect to the transmission system, Madam Chair.  That is my point.  Now, I don't object to him being cross-examined, but that is what the witness said.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Absolutely.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, are you familiar with all aspects of this plan?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I am.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, on the distribution side, the plan changed to increase the burden on ratepayers, is that fair, in November.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The plan changed, and the result would be a potentially larger increase to the distribution of customers than would have been under the OEB's IRM formula, but, once again, the company intends to file a full cost-of-service application to come back in front of this Board to prove its point, and I believe we'll be able to do so.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Then in this November document in the executive summary, page 5, there's a description of economic risk.  It's not in the terms of its impact on customers and their ability to absorb rate increases and you making some trade-offs.  We see it at page 5 described as:
"Economic risk has also increased and the current economic slowdown may impact our load forecast, commodity prices and infrastructure build."

There is nothing in here about its impact on customers.  It is just talking about Hydro One; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I agree at that point in this document it is talking about the risk to Hydro One.  There are other points in this document, in other discussions that I talked about yesterday, that did happen, that did take into account the risk to customers.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  We will come to that in one moment.  But if you could just turn to -- well, schedule A gives more detail in terms of what finds its way into the executive summary, and then attached to schedule A are some further presentations in schedule B and C.

If you could go to schedule C, just to put this in context, schedule C, slide 4, it is a document entitled "Financial Results".

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.

MR. THOMPSON:  We see there that based on the November budget, and without considering either downturn or deep recession, the company was planning for an ROE of [REDACTED] percent; correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  On a consolidated basis, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Then higher numbers in the years -- in the years following.  Then if you go to the economic downturn scenario in the slide presentation - that's at slide 12 - the plan was for an equity return of [REDACTED] percent on a consolidated basis in an economic downturn scenario --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- for 2009, and then you have a deep recession scenario of -- 2009 of [REDACTED] percent on the next slide; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the transmission ROE is [REDACTED], is that right, percent?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  For 2009 it is, yes, based on our submission to the Board, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  I think somewhere in this document it talks about the distribution ROE being [REDACTED] percent?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I will take that subject to check.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Then just -- if you could just then jump back to schedule A, which is a detailed description of the budget, 2009 budget, 2010-2011 outlook, and we go over to regulatory issues, we now see here that this is more detail of your distribution plans, in terms of IRM.

We see in the fourth paragraph from the bottom that Hydro One will be seeking a 2009 increase in distribution rates based on the third generation IRM mechanism?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm sorry, I've lost you.  What document are you looking for?

MR. THOMPSON:  Page 13 of the schedule A under the heading "Regulatory Issues".

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, I have that now.  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  You talk about what was in the executive summary, seeking 2009 increase under IRM for distribution, and in the last sentence it talks about the return to cost-of-service for 2010 and 2011; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.

MR. THOMPSON:  But as of the November plan, you were not including a capital adjustment in the 3G IRM model.  That sentence appears in the middle of that paragraph:
"We have not included a capital adjustment, as we are continuing to assess and analyze the OEB adjustment model and its applicability to our capital program."

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that's the status as of November.  Then if you go on the next page, page 14, you talk -- this plan assumes a distribution rate adjustment of 1 percent for May 1, 2009.

You will find that second-last sentence in the second full paragraph on the page.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then in terms of that plan, what happened after November -- well, just before I leave that plan, in the economic section, discussion, in this document, which we find at page 20, the paragraph -- more detailed paragraph than what appears in the executive summary about economic risk and uncertainty increasing is the second paragraph under risks; correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.

MR. THOMPSON:  It says:
"An economic slowdown may impact our load forecast, commodity prices and infrastructure build.  Given the economic turndown, revenues could be negatively impacted by 17 million and 22 million in 2009 and 2010, respectively."

Then it goes on to discuss a deep recession scenario, as well, and suggests that revenue loss could reach $20 million in 2009; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.  I think I made reference to these numbers generically yesterday.  I knew I had seen them somewhere.  I just hadn't familiarized myself with where I had seen them, but, yes, these are the numbers.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that the part of the document that you say demonstrates the sensitivity of Hydro One to the recession and its impact on its customers?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  This is the part of the document, as well as the rest of the document, as well as the discussions at the board and the committee, where the decision was made not to update -- there was a decision at that time not to update, and that was confirmed when we went to the February board meeting in 2009, confirmed not to update to these factors.

This is information to the Board about the risk to the whole company across the range of the business.  There were, as I understand, discussions about what would it do to the transmission rate filing, and the decision was made not to update the rate filing.

One of the reasons was the impact to customers.  Obviously, there are many factors that are taken into account in terms of updating a rate filing.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So as of November of 2008 for budgeting and planning purposes, what was being planned was a 2009 third generation IRM distribution application without an increment for capital spending; correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And in that scenario, there was discussion of losses that occurred that might be $17 million - I'm talking about 2009 - in 2009 in an economic downturn case, and $20 million in a deep recession case?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  I understand that, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then I suggest subsequently, after November of 2008, Hydro One filed for its 3G IRM, now including an incremental capital module claim, with a revenue requirement in excess of $20 million.  Can you confirm that?

MR. INNIS:  What I can clarify for you is that at the November board meeting there were not numbers in with respect to the capital adjustment mechanism.  That mechanism was still under development and subject to some further direction from the Board itself.


So subsequent to that we filed a distribution submission for 2009 IRM which included a capital adjustment mechanism.  It was our intent to look at the numbers and then update subsequently.  There was not enough information available in November to do the full calculation.

MR. THOMPSON:  The revenue-requirement impact of that capital module add-on is more than $20 million.  Would you take that, subject to check?


MR. INNIS:  I believe that is the case, subject to check.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Subject to check.  Okay.


So what's happened is Hydro One, as a corporation, has not maintained the plans that were expressed in November.  They have actually increased the rate burden on ratepayers, both in the November document compared to the August, as well as post-November activities compared to the November document.


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, could I interrupt?  If I am understanding this conversation, I think we're talking about distribution rates now.  There may be reasons why this happened.  I don't know.  I'm not familiar with the distribution case.  But I do know that there is an ongoing hearing, I think, with the Board dealing with this adjustment mechanism.


So I just ask the Board whether this is very useful in this transmission case to be getting into the distribution hearing.


MR. THOMPSON:  Obviously the planning documents relate to both aspects of the business, gentlemen.  Isn't that correct?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  The planning documents in front of you relate to transmission, distribution, remote, telecom, and Hydro One Brampton and Hydro One Inc.  They're the consolidated results, other than when it specifically talks about, you know, transmission or distribution expenditures.


MR. ROGERS:  My concern -- excuse me, Mr. Thompson, sorry to interrupt -- my only concern is I really don't want to go and -- I don't think it is very useful for us to have me go and find out all of the reasons why the distribution decisions were being made for this case.

And I just don't want it left that this was somehow cavalierly decided.  I am sure there are good reasons for it, and I don't -- I submit it wouldn't be very useful to the Board's time to be dealing with those distribution issues in this case, that's all.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I will leave it there, gentlemen.  I suggest to you these documents do not demonstrate any sensitivity by Hydro One, the corporation, to the ability of consumers to cope with year-after-year increases in transmission and distribution rates.  They demonstrate exactly the opposite.  But I will leave that for argument.


Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.


MR. ROGERS:  Will they be given a chance to answer that argumentative question that my friend posed, Madam Chair?

MS. CHAPLIN:  If you would with like them to, then that's fine.

MR. ROGERS:  If you'd like to --

MS. CHAPLIN:  If you want to leave it to argument, that is also fine.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I will take an initial thing.  I am afraid I have to disagree with you.  I don't want to talk about distribution on a transmission hearing, but the distribution -- it clearly says that we didn't have enough information to do anything other than go with an IRM at the time that did not include a capital adjustment.


Subsequent and consistent with the Board's policies and consistent with the Board's direction, we have updated, consistent with the Board's formula on the capital adjustment factor.  That has been submitted and is now in front of the Board to be heard.  It's consistent with the rules of this Board, and we were playing the game.  We were just telling our Board where we were in the process.  I think that is very clear.

On the transmission side, the Board was given information that you can see here on the impact of the revenue.  This was specifically raised with the subcommittee and the Board that deals with regulatory matters sort of thing, and they raise -- and they talked about it.

I don't have -- there is not documentation of that.  That was a discussion that was brought forward.  It was a very specific issue that I was keen to know:  Am I updating the filing for a whole bunch of things, or are we just updating 2008?  It was one of the considerations.  There were many considerations, and whether you do an update of the '09 and '10 revenue requirement.  The impact on the customers was one of the considerations.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.

There are no other questioners, do I understand?

MS. CHAPLIN:  I don't I don't believe so.  Mr. Millar, you have no questions?


We'll go -- that ends our in camera session?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I have no re-examination.


--- In camera session concludes at 10:10 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  We are back on the air.


And Mr. Buonaguro, are you next in our order of cross-examiners?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.


I'm just getting ready for take-off.


MR. ROGERS:  I see what is on the screen, Madam Chair.  I just, I don't know whether Mr. Buonaguro is aware.  This is one of the updates that we filed this morning, actually, to complete this table.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Yes, thank you.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Excuse me, is that something that could be put on our monitors so we don't have to turn around?

MR. BUONAGURO:  You just have to turn your monitor on.

MR. ROGERS:  You have to turn it on.  It's a -- even I know that.


[Laughter]

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Someone may have to show -- oh, there we go.  Hydro One, I apologize for my incompetence.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:

MR. BUONAGURO:  When I actually refer to something, I will blow it up so it is easier to read.  This is obviously -- this is Exhibit I, tab 666.  And it was part of my cross on this topic, but it was covered yesterday, so this was the first part, which is why there it is there.  And I understand it's being updated.

Good morning, panel.  I am actually going to follow up on the issue, the export revenue.  We have the update at J3.2, which shows that the 2008 revenue from the export transmission credit is $24-and-a-half million, correct?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And just to confirm that the -- what's embedded in the forecast for 2008 was actually $12 million, correct?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And you are proposing 12 million for 2009 and 12 million for 2010, correct?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I am not proposing to repeat precisely the line of questioning that went on yesterday.  I think it was Mr. Thompson who followed up on this.  But I would add to it.

And I am going to pull up Exhibit H1, tab 5, schedule 1, which is page 1 of 2.  And this is a discussion of the export transmission service.  And it refers specifically to the obligation on the IESO to do a study, and I have highlighted here on the screen:

"Hydro One Networks remains responsible for seeking changes to its approved transmission revenue and rates, and will do so as part of a 2010 transmission rate-setting (sic) process period, following the publishing of this study."

And as I understand it, the rate, which I believe is a dollar -- is that correct, right now?  That generates this revenue?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, it is based on a dollar plus a certain quantity or unit of measure associated with that.

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, I don't know where we're going with this.  This is a panel 4 topic.  I don't know how detailed this is going to be.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I appreciate that.  And I'm not going into details.  I'm just -- the context is that Hydro One is probably going to change that rate in the next year, based on the IESO study and based on this, I guess, undertaking to do so, correct?


MR. INNIS:  We followed the undertaking.  I haven't read the full document, so I would have to --

MR. BUONAGURO:  The point is, is that the rate is likely to change.


MR. INNIS:  I would have to read the document to see what the commitment was.  I'm sorry, I'm not familiar with the full section.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, you have -- Hydro One has undertaken to apply for a change when they had the study, and applied for it for 2010.  The point here is that that means that the revenue that we've been talking about, the 12 million that is embedded in rates and the 12 million that is forecasted for 2009-2010, is based on the old rate or the existing rate?

MR. INNIS:  I think that is a fair assumption, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the forecast of 12 million for 2009 and 2010 doesn't account for any change in the rate?

MR. INNIS:  I don't think it does; correct.  It is an absolute number, but in terms of factoring in the new rates, given that the new rate is not known at this time, I would think that the 12 million reflects the current rate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm sorry, I am having a little trouble hearing you.

MR. INNIS:  The 12 million would reflect the current rate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So as part of the -- now, going over to the second page, just to be fair, it says here:
"Hydro One transmission is not seeking changes to the rates as part of this submission, but, if needed, will file for the changes to the rate following the Board's review and approval of the IESO study."

It doesn't specifically talk about updating the amount that is embedded in the rates relative to the rate change, does it?

MR. INNIS:  No, it doesn't.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So as part of the update for 2010, assuming a rate change actually is ready to go for 2010, that would be part of the update, updating the amount that is recovered in rates?

MR. INNIS:  Yes.  I expect in our next filing that that would be fully reflected.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When you say "next filing", you mean the 2010 rates --

MR. INNIS:  It would depend on the effective date of that change, so our next filing would be for 2011 and '12.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Let's assume that the evidence that you put in is correct and that the rate is for 2010.  The update would be for 2010 rates.  If the rate changes for 2010, then the amount that's in rates for 2010 will have to be updated and Hydro One would do that?

MR. INNIS:  We are asking for a two-year revenue requirement at this time to reflect currently approved information.

I haven't received information on any new rate.  What we've done is reflect the current rate in the 2009 and 2010 revenue requirement.

So what we're asking this Board to do is approve our revenue requirement for 2009 and 2010, and so if the rate does change at some point in time in the future, I'm not sure of how that would be reflected in something if it already has been approved by this board.

MR. ROGERS:  Can I just advise, Madam Chair, that panel 4 will be able to deal with this and tell you what the company's position is about this, as to how it proposes to deal with any change.  I am told the study has been delayed and so on, but panel 4 is well equipped to answer these questions.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So if I want to ask questions about how the revenue requirement will be determined for 2010 relative to changes in this rate, panel 4 will do that?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding is panel 3 talks about incorporating it into the revenue requirement.

MR. ROGERS:  panel 4 will deal with that particular issue.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, I can hold that to panel 4.  Thank you.

Now, one thing I would add, though, and this relates back to what was discussed yesterday, currently the revenue from this tariff is embedded in rates and not subject to a deferral variance account; correct?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But if it were, say, for example, subject to a variance account, any change in the rate, the underlying rate that generates the revenue that occurs between now and 2010, would be automatically picked up in the variance account?  Any change in the revenue related to the rate would be picked up in the variance account, because any deviation from whatever is embedded in rates would be captured?

MR. INNIS:  Yes.  If the Board approves a revenue requirement, a deferral account for this, we would certainly track that, put whatever difference in that account, whether it be positive or negative, and that would be settled at a future date.  So we would be able to true this up, if you will, through a deferral account, if that was to be approved by the Board.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Thompson yesterday went through some of the other revenues.  I have just a few specific questions as part of my cross.

Looking at, first, the updated information with respect to secondary land use, and that's at Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 2, page 2 of 6.  That's table 1.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You will see I have highlighted two parts.  The first part is secondary land use.  This is -- you can tell by the black line, this is the updated version.  And the update is to 22 million, and I think you can agree that that's an update from 18.4 million, subject to check?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in this original -- in the original application, and you can see it on this document because it hasn't been updated over the page, it talks about the -- it talks about the reasons for the increase in the secondary land use.  I am not going to actually pull it up.

But, generally speaking, in 2008, which is -- or was originally 18.4 is said to be different from 2009, which is forecast to be only 11.4 by comparison.  You talk about one-time events, generally?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it does.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, the update added $3.6 million to the 2008 year?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it did.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But there was no update with respect to why?  I think you may have mentioned it as part of their global discussion on primary or secondary land use.  Could you perhaps tell me what that $3.6 million increase in the update related to, specifically?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Certainly, I can.  The main increase had to do with a payment received for easements from the City of Toronto with respect to TTC and Enbridge.  These were one-time payments for easements which impacted the results in 2008.  And, actually, as indicated on Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 2, page 3, there's a short discussion on lines 19 through 21 that talks about:
"The 2006 to 2008 revenue levels are unusually elevated due to one-time events, such as granting of easements to Enbridge and City of Toronto and one-time sales of land, resulting in one lump sum payment during this time frame."

I think if one was to take a look at the pattern of external revenues, that would indicate that the '9 and '10 test years are much more consistent with the 2005 test year, which didn't have any of those extraordinary events in them.  So that would be the explanation of the change, why the pattern in 2006, 2007 and 2008 is different than the pattern going forward and why the pattern going forward makes sense.

We are obviously not forecasting one-time events that we don't know are going to happen.  We're just going back to the base revenues that we get from secondary land use.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand you're not forecasting one-time events that you don't know about, but one-time events, generally speaking, happen, don't they?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  Obviously, our experience in 2006, 2007 and 2008 is they can happen, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But why is it reasonable to assume that there will be no one-time events over a two-year period, when they seem to occur on a yearly basis?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Well, they have occurred in 2006, 2007 and 2008.  They didn't occur in 2005.

It is hard to build something like that into the planning framework.  If you were it -- you look at -- you look at your base information.  You look at the secondary land use revenue you know you are going to get.  Then you say, Is there any possibility of a one-time event?  You do take a look and see, Is there something we can see in the horizon?


But because they - I will use the vernacular - pop out of a specific event or circumstance, it is a little bit hard to, in the future, say we know for sure, we're going to predict, that something is going to pop out of somewhere where we have no information at this point in time.

We have no information that would allow us to foresee what that one-time event may be, if it happened in 2009 and 2010.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, specific to secondary land use, you talked about yesterday that there is no real cost associated with it as a category?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally speaking.  Obviously, there's probably some minor administrative costs, and those costs would be just embedded into the facilities and real estate budget.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Where you are talking about one-time events and unpredictability, there is no risk associated with that, in the sense that if a one-time event happened in secondary land use, it is all upside.  There is no downside.


You don't have a one-time event that decreases your secondary land use.  You have one-time events where you have an opportunity and it increases your secondary land use revenue?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I will agree with that assertion.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

Then you will see I highlighted on table 1 of the same exhibit station maintenance 2008 bridge year update.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The update was from $9 million in the original application to the 12.5 we see here; correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Again, I don't think there is a specific description of what the increase was -- that 3.5 million was for.  Could you give me a description of what caused that $3.5 million?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can.  The station maintenance work is predominantly work we do for Bruce Power Pickering Nuclear Generation.  And there were some unplanned maintenance work at both Bruce and Pickering that we were asked to take part of.  And then we actually did a little bit of sandblasting and machining work for Siemens as well.  And those were the two items that were unplanned for which caused the increase in the external revenues in that year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Does that come under the category of unsolicited work?  People approach you and say, Hydro One, we need you to do something, and you do it?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  In this category, there are very few people who approach us.  The "station maintenance" category is, by and large, predominantly the large nuclear generating station, so we deal with OPG and Bruce Power, in terms of their needs.

The Siemens item was actually helping ourselves out.  It had to do with work that we eventually would -- equipment that they're working on for us, so it was kind of helping ourselves in a roundabout way.

So this isn't just anyone coming to us and saying, Will you do work?  As I talked about yesterday, it is certainly going forward.  We would certainly say "no" to that type of thing.  This is really just to address the very specific and urgent needs of our sister companies.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, I have a -- I would like to clarify some of the assumptions underlying the property taxes as are treated in the forecast.  And I am going to pull up an interrogatory response.  This is Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 15, and I am showing you page 2 of 2.  It is a response to a question from BOMA.


And you will see from --this is response F I am focusing on.  I think you were asked, what are the assumptions that you used in the calculation of property taxes, and the answer is:

"The assumptions used in calculations of the property-tax costs forecast for 2009 and 2010 are based on..."

Then you list them here.  And as I understand it, you've got -- you are assuming an annual 2 percent municipal increase.  That's the first bullet.  Correct?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so you are bumping it up for 2009 2 percent, in 2010 2 percent, for municipal taxes.

MR. INNIS:  That was our planning assumption.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's our planning assumption.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And then -- and I have highlighted this next part on the third bullet:

"Increases in property taxes of 2 percent for 2009 and 2 percent for 2010 as a result of reassessment."

So this is how I understand it.  And I had a discussion with at least two other lawyers in the room.  We didn't quite understand it, so I thought I would ask.


It sounds like you are assuming 2 percent municipal tax 2009, 2 percent municipal tax increase in 2010, and then again increase in property taxes 2009, 2 percent, which sounds like you are double-counting the increase.  And then a separate increase in 2010 of 2 percent as a result of reassessment.

I don't understand why you would do that, and perhaps you can explain more fully how these assumptions operate.

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I can clarify that for you.


The first assumption under point F in Exhibit I2-15, that relates to an increase in the actual tax rate charged by the municipalities.  Municipalities are having cost pressures, and they're passing those cost pressures on through increases in the actual mill rates they charge on properties.  So that's coming through the rate increase itself.


Also, what's happening, in the third bullet under section F, that 2 percent relates to the underlying value of the property being assessed.  So what we're experiencing is property reassessments.

So whereby some of our older properties are now being assessed at a higher dollar value, and so we are seeing an increase on the base 2 percent, as well as the rate that the municipalities assess the property at is 2 percent.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Aha.  So I think it is a matter of how it is written, because the way it was written, it sounded like you were -- to me, anyway, it sounded like you were assuming an additional 2 percent increase in the property tax.  And what you mean is you've assumed a 2 percent increase in the total you're paying in both of those years as a result of reassessments.


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. INNIS:  And, sorry, just to clarify that, on top of that there is a 2 percent on the actual tax rate itself.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which is bullet 1.

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So compounded 4 percent per year.

MR. INNIS:  Yes, correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Slightly more than 4 percent per year, because of compounding, sorry.  Right?

MR. INNIS:  It would be a minor compounding impacts it, the 2 percent --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Excuse me, Mr. Buonaguro.  I don't want to interrupt you, but if you are leaving that, I do have a question on this particular one.


On the 2 percent related to the reassessments, have you done an analysis on whether or not your reassessments are 2 percent above the median reassessments of all properties?  Is this an exception to Hydro One's properties?  Or is it a reassessment in general that all properties are going up?


MR. INNIS:  This is a planning assumption that we have, based on what we're seeing coming in, as far as actual reassessments received.  I'm not sure if there's been a median type study or global study on that.  But as far as what we're seeing is, we are seeing increases in the assessments.  And so as a result of that, this assumption is built into our plan to accommodate -- to accommodate those increases.


MR. QUESNELLE:  The reassessments -- I just want to make sure we're clear here -- a reassessment of the property value, are you saying there is a direct correlation to that reassessment and an increase in taxes?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.  So if the base underlying property increases, then the rate that's applied is applied to the property.  Then that would lead to an increase.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I actually had a similar line of questioning, and I thank the panel for that.


My understanding -- and perhaps I am just not understanding, but my understanding was similar.  If every property in the territory goes up the same rate, is reassessed 2 percent higher than it was the previous year, then there would be no impact, and you're saying that is not right.


MR. INNIS:  No.  If a property is assessed at 2 percent higher, there would indeed be an increase in the amount of taxes that we would be having to pay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you're saying that is because the rate is applied to a higher base, simply that?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  It sounds like something I can work out on my own later.


I am going to pull up interrogatory response I-2-12, and this is another BOMA interrogatory.  And you can see on what I have pulled up I have highlighted a particular part of the response.  It says here that:

"The PWU and Society Union contracts are currently in place until beyond 2010, which both stipulate annual 3 percent economic increases in base wages in each of 2009 and 2010."

Is the 3 percent value specified in each of the contracts?  Or do the contracts include an economic adjustment that is linked to some inflation measure which you are forecasting be 3 percent?


MR. MCDONELL:  The 3 percent increase is part of the collective agreement that was negotiated.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, it is an actual -- I looked in the agreement.  It says "3 percent".  It doesn't say "a rate to be determined by --

MR. MCDONELL:  No, it says "3 percent".


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.


And I am going to pull up another exhibit.  This is AMPCO interrogatory Exhibit I, tab 10, schedule 1.  And you can see I have highlighted part of it.  This says -- response -- part of the response says:

"Conference Board data forecasts wages for non-unionized staff to increase by 4.1 percent.  In August, utilities sector projections were in the range of 4.5 percent."

Did the 4.5 percent projection come from the Conference Board?  Or where did it come from?


MR. MCDONELL:  Just one moment.

If my memory serves me right, the original -- the original forecast for non-unionized staff was about the 4.6 percent, and that came from both Mercer as well as Conference Board.  And in August, just as the economy was turning south, Mercer did an update to that projection, and I think that is reflected in the reference in August to that new projection.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, so the 4.5 percent comes from an August projection --

MR. MCDONELL:  I believe Mercer.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- from Mercer?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When was the 4.1 percent Conference Board projection released?

MR. MCDONELL:  I'm not sure of the exact date, but it was some time before August, I believe.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Do you regularly monitor trends in non-union compensation?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, we do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you have any more recent updates as to what the increase in compensation for non-unionized staff is expected to be in 2009-2010?

MR. MCDONELL:  Since the update in August, no.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

I am pulling up -- this is Exhibit A, tab 9, schedule 2, page 7.  Sorry, it is page 7 of schedule A to schedule 2.  It's a little more complicated than that, but A-9-2, and then schedule A, page 7.

This is the pricing related to the telecom services, telecom costs.

MR. INNIS:  Which appendix would that be in, please?  I have a series of exhibits here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It would be appendix -- sorry, you're right, appendix D.

MR. INNIS:  E?

MR. BUONAGURO:  For those wondering what I am talking about, as I understand, this is affiliate services under telecom, the category telecom services?

MR. CURTIS:  Not E.  It appears it is remotes.

MR. INNIS:  E is remotes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I said D.

MR. INNIS:  "D" as in "David", okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.

MR. INNIS:  Yes.  I have that, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So our understanding is that the total costs that is in the evidence is, first off, this is schedule A to that appendix.  Total PSTS charge for 2008 was 4.633 million;  correct?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's what it says.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's the first part.  Sorry, that's the first part; right?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then the second part is in schedule B, which is a few pages down, where you add to that $4.368 million; correct?  This is called the PSTS charge.

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have that.  Can you just refer me to the previous reference?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, you want to see -- you want to know where this table comes from?

MR. INNIS:  The other one was on page 7, and they're both page 7s on schedule A and B.  Yes, I have them.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So basically you add up 4.6 million and 4.3 million and you get about $9 million in telecom services; correct?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And looking at the projections for 2009, the 4. -- well, just under 4.4 million, which is the second part I showed you, goes up to about 4.8 in 2009?  I have highlighted that here.

MR. INNIS:  You are on Exhibit C1-2-9?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, sorry, I should have said that.  C1-2-9, page 15, table 5.  I tried to capture the cite at the top of the page so you can refer to it when you are looking at your own documents.


While are you looking, I think you will see that the 4. --

MR. INNIS:  Yes, we have that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  The 4.4 is going up to 4.8, and then 5 in 2010?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then the transmission portion of that is at the end of the table, which is 2.3 million; correct?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, with respect to the first part I was talking about, the power system telecommunication costs, I guess it was the $4.6 million we were talking about for 2008?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  How much of that is attributable to transmission?

MR. CURTIS:  I don't know how the attribution of the total costs was done to transmission.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just one second.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BUONAGURO:  You can see what's happened...

MR. INNIS:  To give you an accurate answer of that, I would have to check into our cost allocation model.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  My understanding is that none of it was attributed to distribution in the distribution case, which would imply that it would be 100 percent transmission.


If I am correct and none of it was attributed to distribution, does that necessarily mean that 100 percent would go to transmission?

MR. INNIS:  My recollection is, from the distribution case, that there was a small amount for distribution, but it was primarily related to transmission.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So -- okay, I will take that.  I think you might -- well, I will move on.  It might be the case you're going to have to take an undertaking to tell me exactly how much is transmission, but let's see if we can finish this off first.

Now I am going to refer you to the Board's decision on telecom, on these telecom costs in the distribution case.  I've got the excerpt that I am interested in on the screen here, and I have copies of the excerpt if you need copies, but --

MR. CURTIS:  No, I have that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You have it?  Okay, great.

Just so people can read it, I am just going to pick up the conversation here in the decision where it says:
"The Board takes a different view with respect to the shared services activity provided by Hydro One's telecom affiliate."

And I think the decision speaks for itself, but the ultimate fallout of the distribution decision was that the $9 million in telecom costs for the whole company that we've been talking about here were reduced by $1 million.

Do you recall that aspect of the decision?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess I have highlighted it down here:
"The Board finds that some disallowance is warranted, given the failure of the company to reassess the costs in light of the increases sought.  Accordingly, the Board will decrease the cost attributable to this activity by $1 million to $8 million, an amount which exceeds the 2006 cost level, but falls short of the $9 million sought.  The company is reminded that the obligation to ensure the affiliate services are being provided on a genuinely cost-effective basis is always a current obligation and cannot rest on a one-time assessment."

So in the distribution case you asked for nine, total.  It was reduced to eight, total; correct?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, going over to the draft rate order, which is where this $1 million reduction was implemented -- so this is the rate order for the same case, EB-2007-0681.  I don't think I mentioned the decision earlier, but that is the decision.  This is Exhibit 1.2 from the draft rate order.

This is essentially a calculation of how the company carried through that $1 million reduction to the distribution rates; correct?

MR. CURTIS:  Yes, it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You will see I have highlighted at the bottom the result - whoops - is the distribution portion of that reduction was $200,000?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Does that mean that the transmission portion of that reduction would be $800,000?

MR. CURTIS:  No, it would not, not in our current application.  And the reason for that is, if you could go back to the decision that was rendered, the Board said that -- ruled on that reduction based on the fact that the company had not provided a current assessment of why those services should be at fair market value that we put in our application.  We have subsequently done that external assessment, and we have provided it as the evidence out of that assessment in the current application.


If I could take you to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 9, and page 16.  You will see, starting in the paragraph that starts at line 15, we talk about the study that we undertook in 2008 with an external consultant by the name of Shpigler.

And there were two significant conclusions out of that report.  The first was that the services that we are talking about are normally provided by the electric utility, and that there are not competent external providers of these services, so it is inappropriate to go to external parties, in terms of, for example, a competitive bidding on this.


And then secondly, the second conclusion reached is on page 17, and that is, the report concluded the proposed contract costs for 2009 and 2010 are indicative of fair market value.


They determined this based on a comparison of Hydro One with other utilities across the country, because again, their conclusion, the services that we are talking about here, are not appropriately delivered by other commercial entities.  It is appropriate that these services be delivered within the utility.


So since we have completed a current assessment and the conclusion of that assessment is that we are -- have fair market value, we have used that in the current application on transmission.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is the actual -- so what you are saying is that The Shpigler Group responds to the decision in the 2008 distribution case?


MR. CURTIS:  No, Hydro One responded to the decision by contracting with Shpigler to do a current assessment that the Board had said in its conclusion was missing in our distribution application.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is the Shpigler report in the evidence?

MR. CURTIS:  No, we did not include it specifically in the evidence.  We included the conclusions of the Shpigler report in evidence.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Could you provide a copy of the Shpigler report, please?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  I'm not sure about the timing, but I think there is a report, and we will file it.


MR. MILLAR:  That is Undertaking J4.1, and it is to file a copy of the Shpigler report.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.1:  TO FILE A COPY OF THE SHPIGLER REPORT

MR. MILLAR:  And while I have the mic, I would like to give an exhibit number to the document filed by Mr. Buonaguro.  That will be Exhibit K4.1, and it is excerpts from EB-2007-0681.

EXHIBIT NO. K4.1:  EXCERPTS FROM EB-2007-0681

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you able to tell me when the Shpigler report was commissioned?


MR. CURTIS:  The Shpigler report was commissioned in early 2008 and it was completed in May of 2008.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I take it that it -- well, it wasn't included in the distribution case?


MR. CURTIS:  That is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.


If I could take you to Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 32.  It's a Board Staff interrogatory.  It talks about general counsel costs, and it's basically explained here that the decrease in 2008 -- from 2008 projected costs -- sorry, for the decrease from 2008 was a result of more costs being charged to work programs and projects and increased use of internal legal resources.  Is that a fair summary?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And if we look in the update evidence at C1, tab 2, schedule 6, page 18, the update shows that the 2008 costs have gone down further from the original forecast of 7.3 million to 6.4 million, correct?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain the further decrease in 2008?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, there is a couple of reasons for that, one of them being the work that we're doing on some of the major capital projects.  There are legal fees that are being charged directly to those projects, as opposed to being expensed in OM&A.


And so that would have -- for example, at Bruce-to-Milton, there would be some legal fees that we had budgeted, and because there's Bruce-to-Milton work, we were able to capitalize those, so they are not in our 2008 expenditures.  That caused a slightly lower spending level than what we had projected.

Also, there was a project called the Records Management Initiative, which is a major project that is being coordinated by our general counsel office, and there have been delays in that project.  And so the under-expenditure relates to the delays in starting the Records Management Initiative.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I guess that would have been a project that couldn't be capitalized, that work?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  The Records Management Initiative would not meet the capitalization criteria.  It is an OM&A expenditure.  And so from an accounting point of view, that has to be expensed in the current year.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you for that.


Now, that suggests to me that, when we're looking at these figures, it doesn't actually give us a picture of what your actual general counsel and secretary function costs are, just because it depends on how much is being capitalized every year.


MR. INNIS:  No.  What -- the information you have in table 7 are indeed the operating expenditures for the OM&A.

What happens is, on an annual basis, part of the budget is for external legal counsel.  In 2008 it so happened that external legal counsel were doing work on a capital project, and so our capitalization rules called for that to be charged to the project, as opposed to expense.

So at any given year that can be the case.  And there are major undertakings where that would happen.  As a rule these external legal counsel costs would be expensed, because they do not relate to capital projects.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, does that mean that if I want to get a sense of how much this function is actually costing over the years, I would have to go to a higher level before part of it gets expensed in each year?


MR. INNIS:  Oh, no, that is not the case.  The cost of this function in any given year, you can see on table 7, and that's an accurate representation of the operating costs of our general counsel and secretary function.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But that's after part of what they're doing has been capitalized.

MR. INNIS:  The capitalization is not a major part of the business.  You are asking for a specific reason what happened in 2008.  That is an exception, as opposed to the norm.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.


I take it then that the projection for the test year 2009/2010, you have already -- would you have factored in the ability to capitalize some of those costs?

MR. INNIS:  Yes.  These would be operating costs, and so there would not be any capital costs in the numbers that you see for 2009 to 2010.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Are there significant capitalized costs that we're not seeing here for the projected years?


MR. INNIS:  No.  There are no capitalized costs in the projected years.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So in the projected costs you are projecting no capitalization.

MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.


It's eleven o'clock.  I have one more of my original areas, and then I have just some follow-up on the J2.7 exhibit and the -- what's the other one called?  The companion Exhibit K3.2 that were filed yesterday.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So how long do you think you would be?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Probably about 20 -- 15 to 20 minutes total, maximum.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Oh, then I think we will take our break now.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MS. CHAPLIN:  And we will return in 20 minutes.

And just to let people know, because of other commitments over the lunch hour, we will take an extended lunch break from 12:30 until two o'clock.

We will return in 20 minutes.


--- Recess taken at 11:00 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 11:24 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Just before we begin, we will ask you, Mr. Rogers, to review and/or consider the transcript from this morning's in camera session.  You are shaking your head knowingly.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I anticipated that.  I was thinking about it.  I will need to take instruction, but I will advise the Board at the first opportunity as to my client's position.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.

Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair, just before Mr. Buonaguro resumes, I wonder if I might just put one re-examination question to the witness now.  It is something I would do later, but -- I even debated whether to bother, but just while Mr. Buonaguro is still here, I would like him to hear the answer, because it was something he was touching on this morning.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.
Re-Examination by Mr. Rogers:

MR. ROGERS:  It is a pretty innocuous point.  Mr. McDonell, over the break you indicated to me you had a little bit of discomfort about the one conversation with Mr. Buonaguro about the escalation forecast for I think it was MCP staff.

MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  He was referencing I-10-1.

MR. MCDONELL:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You don't need to turn it up, but as I recall, he was asking you about a forecast I think in the order of 4 percent or so per year over the rate period.

MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  He asked you whether there was any updated forecast that you had done, I think was -- I think was the question.


MR. MCDONELL:  No.  I think the question was more:  Had we received some external forecasting that would have updated that 4 percent?

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  He didn't ask you, but can you help the Board?  What is the company doing with the staff for 2009?

MR. MCDONELL:  Sure.  At the time of the filing of this application, we put in for a costing assumption for management compensation employees - these are our non-unionized staff - a 4 percent economic adjustment.  That was based on external intelligence from Mercer and Conference Board.

So we thought that was fair and defensible.  Since then, the Ontario government has imposed a 1.5 percent cap on the OPS, the Ontario Public Service, and in doing so they also asked the broader public sector to consider doing likewise, and Hydro One has done so.  And for 2009, the management compensation economic adjustment will be limited to 1.5 percent for 2009.

MR. ROGERS:  If you don't mind, what would be the impact -- first of all, has there been any adjustment or any amendment to the rate application to reflect that, as far as you know?

MR. MCDONELL:  No, there hasn't, Mr. Rogers.  As Mr. Van Dusen was speaking to yesterday, there are various ups and downs with any forecasts versus actuals.  We heard yesterday that there were a number of costs that are going to be extra costs to the company.  They have not been adjusted, nor has this down been adjusted.

MR. ROGERS:  Just for the Board's information, what would be the rough impact of this 1.5 percent increase for 2009 as compared with the 4 percent increase embedded in the rate application?

MR. MCDONELL:  It would be approximately $400,000 on transmission OM&A.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.
Cross-examination by Mr. Buonaguro (continued):


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I am pulling up Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 8, and this is an updated table 2, which talks about the strategic and business development functions.


And the original forecast under the bridge year, 2008, was 9.6 million, and you have updated the actuals to 6.3 million; correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain the significant underspending relative to the original forecast?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can.

Yes.  In the strategy and business development area, it was anticipated that there would be much more activity associated with government CDM, OPA-related initiatives that would require our expertise in this area.  It was some of the OPA-related initiatives on the CDM side that didn't come through.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So basically you described all of those programs after the table and you're saying some of those programs didn't happen?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Some of the work on our side.  The OPA and Hydro One worked together on various initiatives, CDM-related initiatives, which are mainly distribution in nature.  Once again, the strategy and business development area and all of the areas in the asset management were showing the total costs in the allocation of the transmission.  So the expenditure, by and large, was in CDM-related initiatives.

Also, in this area and across some of the other areas in asset management there's a bit of a hiring lag.  Our anticipation of when we were able to bring on staff to achieve some of the key work activities was a little bit delayed.  We had a little bit more difficulty than we thought bringing on the staff.


We compensated through the use of temporaries and contracts and consultants to get some of the key activities done, but there was a bit of a hiring lag, as well.  So a combination of hiring lag and some of the OPA-related work not coming through.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, given that experience in 2008, is maintaining the 2009-2010 at a similar level that was forecast for 2008 reasonable?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We do believe it is reasonable.  One of the initiatives which this group helps to spearhead has to do in the area of smart grid development.  They're involved in various initiatives to ensure that the company is coordinated in terms of its efforts, and working with the various authorities and working with the internal people on smart grid activities.


These people work in consultation with Mr. Curtis's area, as well, in terms of moving forward, in terms of developing our smart meter initiatives.  So that partly leads to the increasing costs for the 2009-2010 period.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You said "partly", so what about the rest?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  The rest is just the growth in the overall work program and the growth in the overall system also involved in this area.  Some of the undertakings -- some of the activities that they undertake are examined -- or explained, sorry, on page 6 of C1, tab 2, schedule 8 having to do with looking at conservation and demand management initiatives.

And certainly with the knowledge that we had at the time and with the confirmation of the government in terms of its Green Energy Act, there would be many more initiatives.

This group will help coordinate those activities across Hydro One.  That would be one of the other areas.

We also see an increasing work in terms of our work with the customer advisory boards, in terms of making sure that our customers are well aware of the many-pronged initiatives we will have under way, consistent with our shareholders' and government's direction.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, the end of the graph talks about the allocation of transmission, and I think we understand that you allocate the total costs between distribution and transmission based on the Rudden methodology; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  And the part of the Rudden methodology which is applicable here has to do with the time study.  As indicated in the evidence -- I don't have the number handy right now, but the Rudden methodology confirms the time study approach that they validated in the 2006 initially when they were here, and the time study is something we do on an ongoing basis.  And it is the time study that is the basis for the allocation of costs in asset management.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So for this category, is there -- you're saying that there is a time study for 2008 that you used for the forecast?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  We had -- the time study we used was the one that we had used in 2006.  We had done an updated time study, but the results of that time study weren't overly significant in terms of the change in the answer.  And we are cognizant of the Board not wanting us to introduce minor variation and allocation methodologies that may not be permanent in nature.

It was our judgment that, given the small change the time study results were showing us, it wasn't prudent to introduce that difference into the comparison of the numbers, and so we stuck with the 2006 time study.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, when was this new time study that you are not using done?  What period did it cover?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, the new time study that you are not reflecting --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- when was that?  What period did it cover?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It was -- just one second.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I was getting my years mixed up.  It was done in the spring of 2008.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I ask because, that study aside then, the current allocation between transmission and distribution is based on a 2006 study, right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And again, setting aside the 2008 study, the costs have gone up approximately 50 percent since -- or at least your forecast costs have gone up about 50 percent since 2006?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you have described, in terms of going into 2008, '09, '10, you're talking about Green Energy Act initiatives, CDM, working with the OPA.  It sounds like what -- the tasks that this particular business unit is doing is changing since 2006, in addition to increasing in scope, it looks like.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  You are accurate in pointing out the types of activities you have.  But also embedded in these costs are a few other things.  I did talk about the increasing smart grid initiatives, which, although they are split between transmission and distribution right now, we're looking at many transmission-related initiatives.

Also, as indicated on line 12 there, what's included in here is also funding for property insurance and boiler/machinery insurance.  It was just a place to put it.

So almost half of the costs you see in any given year are associated with the insurance costs which are held on this part of the organization.  The asset management organization holds that insurance for the company.  It is just the way we have budgeted it forever.


And that insurance, of course, is associated with the various assets, transmission and distribution assets.  So that is one of the other major costs in here.  And the insurance premiums are going up somewhat as well.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So I take it, in terms of the allocation between transmission and distribution, you are telling me that you looked at it in 2008, did a full-time study in accordance with the Rudden methodology, and it didn't support any material changes?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


When would you anticipate doing a further time study?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We are doing another time study as we speak.


MR. BUONAGURO:  When will that be -- when would you use that, for allocation purposes?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Once again, our anticipation, barring unforeseen circumstances, is that would be used in our current planning process that we're in the midst of, and would be the basis of the support for the distribution application that we've talked about and any future transmission application as well.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.


I have some questions about the interrogatory response, J2.7, which I don't have electronically, so I can't put on the screen, and --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, could you repeat the reference?  I'm sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  J2.7.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Oh, yes, sorry.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I may be touching on -- or you may be touching on K3.2 in responses, so that should be handy.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Very good.  Thank you.  I have those both now.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I am going to start with the evidence first, the application evidence.  I am looking at A14, schedule 5.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Page 5.  And I have highlighted a section here that talks about minimum levels of accomplishment.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I talked about this a little bit with panel 2.  And it was my discussion on minimum levels that prompted the response to J2.7, so you can blame me.

Now, I am reading this excerpt, and I guess I should read it into the record:

"There are also minimum levels of accomplishment which are necessary to avoid unacceptable risk to the BVs, or business values."

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  "For example, if accomplishments
fell below a certain level for a particular program, meeting applicable safety, regulatory, or legal requirements may be at risk.  In other cases, reduced accomplishment levels can create longer-term sustainability issues, resulting in higher long-term costs.  In the example above, replacing less than the minimum 500 poles per year would represent an unacceptable reliability and safety risk, another example of the accomplishments necessary to meet the minimum requirements prescribed by the Transmission System Code."

So my understanding of that paragraph is that it describes the minimum level of spending that, going through this process, spits out what your minimum amount of spending should be.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And that falling below that minimum level of spending creates unacceptable risks, potentially in either reliability or safety risk, for example, or, in the examples, anyway, an unacceptable reliability risk or an unacceptable safety risk or an unacceptable failure to meet minimum requirements as examples of what happens if you don't do the minimum spending.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I have to correct you on a subtlety, but it is a very important subtlety, because it is something -- a point we have been trying to make in our evidence and in the cross-examination.


It is not spending below the minimum level.  If you spend the minimum level at the end of the planning period, you will have a very high probability that one of the events that we really don't want to happen will happen.


So when you talk about spending below the minimum level, no.  The minimum level just means that you have to spend at that level at the very least, and if you are below that, then you -- and you spend -- even if you spend at that level, there is a very high probability you have one of these events that we don't want to have happen, happen.

So just a subtlety, but I just want to make that clear.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, my understanding of Exhibit J2.7, which was a response to my enquiry on this topic, is that -- and go over to page 2.  The exercise that the company went into at the beginning of 2008 to determine this minimum level of spending produced the OM&A budget that's on -- for -- we'll stick with 2009 for the moment -- for 2009, an OM&A budget of 377 million-point-five, and a 2009 transmission capital budget of 1 million -- or, sorry, 1 billion-180 million?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding is that I would read -- when you talk about minimum levels and you talk about OM&A and capital, they have been split up into different categories.  But my assumption has been -- and perhaps you can confirm -- is that you don't think of it that way when you're doing the planning.  You plan the expenditures, and they spit out a total spending which is split into capital and OM&A, but they're together.

So, for example, the 2009 OM&A 377.5 million that is represented here goes hand in hand with the 1 billion-108-thousand -- 1 billion-180 million-dollar capital program.  Are they related that way?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, they're not related that way.  Let me explain.  We go through and -- generally speaking, on each one of these categories.  So let's take a look at the OM&A page, under "sustaining stations", where it says -- where it says "power equipment".


What we do is, the experts in that area, the planners in that areas, develop what they feel represents the minimum level of expenditure, such if they kept it at that level over the five-year period something bad would happen.  And then they have other levels.  They'd have a level 1 spending, a level 2, and a level 3.

As they increase the spending, they mitigate the residual risk.  And what they do is, each of the planners in the various areas for OM&A and capital separately -- so there is what we call in our vernacular investment drivers associated with OM&A and capital.  We have about 140 of them roughly split between the four buckets, TD, OM&A, and capital.

The planners in those areas developed the various levels of expenditures associated with that, and they bring that forward, and they say to bring the risk down to a acceptable level of risk you either have to spend at level 1, level 2, and level 3.


And then we get into the discussion with all of the planners and saying, Okay.  That is what you brought forward, is what you see as a reasonable residual risk.  Prove it to us.  And now, okay, we believe you or we don't believe you in some cases.  In some cases we say, You are proposing level 3 is reasonable.  We think level 2 is reasonable.  It is an iterative process, very thoughtful process.

And then what happens is we say, now we have to apply constraints.  What does this generate in terms of a rate increase?  Is that appropriate?  Can we do all this work?  Can we get the outages to do this?

I now look back and realize that the choice of the word "minimum" is probably okay internally for people who work very closely with the risk-based system, but is not a good word to use in the public.  It conveys in the general vernacular that -- something you can get away with.  But in the risk terminology that I use it, minimum level is not something you can get away with, not over the long-term.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't think I heard in your answer the answer I was looking for, so I am going to have to ask it maybe -- maybe this will do it.


Again, looking at the 2009, for example, you have determined at the minimum level a number of budgets on a line-by-line basis for a number of categories, and then over the page you have determined a budget for a number of items on a line-by-line basis, come up with totals.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My assumption was that, for example, a planner would come in on, I don't know, circuit-breakers and say, Yes, you're going to have to spend $15 million in capital to do circuit breakers, and then that may have a corresponding OM&A question on something else, but they're interrelated.

So you could represent the minimum level spending as a total capital and OM&A package.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, I did misunderstand you, and thank you for adding that clarification.  You are quite right.

There are areas which obviously are interrelated.  You spend at one level in one area; it does have impacts on what level of spending or level of work.


It is more the type of work you do.  If you're doing this type of work on a station, you might need to do this type of work on the feeder lines, so on and so forth.  So from that perspective, they're interrelated.

Certainly what we don't want to convey is that minimum goes with minimum and level -- goes with level 1 across the whole board.  That's not the case.

In our plan, when we show you here that we're 57.7 in 2009 over in OM&A, that is a combination -- over the minimum level, that is a combination of drivers that are at minimum level, level 1, level 2, and potentially level 3.

So the interrelationship is maintained as we go through the process.  So if the judgment of the management team is to reduce something in one area, we do say that necessitates that you either reduce it here or be aware that you are delinking these.  So it is very thoughtful and very thorough, and it is interrelated, but it is not all -- all the minimum doesn't go with all minimum, and all level 1 doesn't go with level 1.  This was just a response to produce a very specific type of information, but we have used it as an opportunity obviously to explain our process.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, back to what I have on the screen there from the evidence, from A14, schedule 5, page 5.  We have the description of minimum levels, and my understanding was that the 2009 minimum level, 2010 minimum level, OM&A and capital spending that's represented on J2.7 correlates to that definition of minimum level.  That's what you're doing?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  You pulled up one example, and that is an example of how we go about it.  And it does talk about a minimum level for that type of work, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So then I go over the page, page 6, on the same exhibit, A14, schedule 5.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You have this figure.  So looking at this figure, you have minimum, level 1, level 2 funding.  Do you see that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And taking J2.7 under the column "Minimum Level", that plan for OM&A and transmission fits on that minimum level of that graph?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then I am assuming that if I go to K3.2, which talks about the Sunnybrook meetings --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- I am assuming that the fifteen-twenty-nine for 2009 and twelve-eighty-seven for 2010 capital proposals --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- fit somewhere in the level 1 or level 2 categories?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally speaking, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Here is my problem.  Going back to J2.7, you've got the "Filed" column; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which is the application; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding is that it was characterized as going below the minimum level; is that fair?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  I think what I said yesterday in cross-examination, I think if you were to take a look at the 2009 capital, I think what I was saying at that point is, in 2009 for overall capital program, we were planning below the minimum level.

In 2010, we start to make up some of that deficiency, because we understand that we cannot stay at that level for a prolonged period of time.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So then let's start with 2009, then.  I understand the distinction.  So for 2009, if I'm looking back at this graph, the 2009 plan that's in the application would be somewhere in the text below the graph, which is another way of say continuing is not really on the graph?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  What I would say is for OM&A, for 2009 and 2010, you are somewhere in the level 1ish, low level 2ish area.  I would say for capital for 2010, you're in the level 1 area, and for capital for 2009 we are within that first -- we are not spending up to that minimum level.

This is part of the distinction I was making with you earlier.  We identified a minimum level of spending, and we are not spending that in -- our planned expenditure levels are well below that.  So we would be in that bottom minimum box in 2009 for our capital program.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So for 2009 capital, you are below the graph somewhere?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, no.  I'm in the graph, which is in the part of the graph that says "minimum".  What you have to read is, when you say minimum level spending, it is to the top of the -- that line, and level 1 spending is to the top of that arrow.  I could go up and point.  Oh, here I can point.  Sorry.

Sorry.  So this represents -- that represents minimum level spending.  That represents level 1 spending, and ideally we should have drawn a line there and that would have been level 2 spending.  So I am saying the capital in 2009 is in this region, and then the capital for 2009 and 2010 and OM&A for 2009 and 2010 are in that region.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's interesting, because that's not how I understood yesterday's testimony.  I will have to take a look at it, because my understanding and the impression I was getting - maybe I am just not understanding - is that, as part of the planning process, you went and presented your minimum plans, and then you were forced under them.


What you're really saying, I guess, is that on a range of minimum, you are at a certain level and you are forced below that range of minimum?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I apologize for my apparent lack of clarity yesterday.

No.  If you go to Exhibit K3.2 - and this is something that you have brought to my attention - and you take look at -- I will use an example.  The transmission capital in 2009, we initially presented to the senior management team $1.529 billion as representing a reasonable level of spending, what we call asset needs, to the management team.

We knew at that time that that would have -- that that plan most likely would not be acceptable.  What we do with the senior management team, though, is we bring them, This is our reasonable level of spending.  Now, help me make the decisions to bring that reasonable level of spending, applying the constraints in a logical and sensible manner with all due regard to all of the various pieces of the puzzle, down to the level where you are comfortable.

So what they do is they trade off additional residual risk against meeting some of their other objectives.

So I apologize for my lack of clarity yesterday.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am looking at page 8 of A-14-5, and I have something highlighted there.  It says:
"All investment levels are subject to the prioritization process with the exception of the minimum levels, which are automatically placed in the investment plan proposal."

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Does that correlate to your J2.7 minimum levels, so that all of the investment levels related to all of these categories that were identified as the minimum level are in there?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I take your point.  If I could have this back and rewrite this, I think I would definitely change that.

No, we examine the minimum level now in as much rigour as we do all of the other levels.  So I take your point that this is somewhat -- this is somewhat misleading.  We do investigate the minimum levels in detail.


In fact, now, because of the situation we're in, we spend a lot of our time examining the minimum levels that are brought forward.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think maybe you can see where I was going with this is that if that is true and that represents the minimum level, and you are going below that in your filed, it really does suggest to me that, going back to this graph -- I almost wish this was yellow, because I could say you fall below the yellow line, for anybody who watches The Biggest Loser.  But it suggests that that is where you are.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's not the case.  And, once again, I am sorry if we gave that impression.

No, that is definitely not the case.  When we say we are below minimum level in spending, that means we are in there.  That would be the minimum level of spending, this bar.

This must be wonderful for the court reporter.  I apologize to her.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So you're saying that as part of your -- okay.  So going back to the quote I was talking about on page 8...

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Spending at the minimum level, you can dip below it.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, yes, you can.  On a short-term basis you can.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So -- and I think what you are telling me is that you agree that the way that the evidence was written suggests more of a rigidity, in terms of going below minimum level, than what is in actual fact what happens when you do your planning?  Or what was characterized as a minimum level in the evidence?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  What I would agree to is, if I could rewrite this sentence I would say that, generally speaking, we try to place the minimum levels in the investment plan.  If we're being told that that is the minimum level, and we are going to be trouble over a five-year period if we don't do that, we try to make sure that we can accommodate the minimum levels.  But to the extent that we can't, we can't, and here is an example of where we couldn't.


So all I'm agreeing to is, I would re-write that sentence to be a little bit clearer as to what exactly we do.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Going back to J2.7 for a moment.  I have one specific question that I can't help but ask.

Looking at TS upgrades to facilities, distribution generation, it looks like that's the only area --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, are you looking at OM&A or capital?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm sorry, I am looking at the capital.  Development, TS upgrades to facilities, distribution generation.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  That would be a category where -- that's the only category in capital, at least, where the spending has gone to zero for both 2009 and '10?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Could you explain that to me?  Like, what is that, and what happens when you go to zero?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm going to get a bit out of my league here very quickly.  This would have been a question for the detailed planners on 1 and 2.


This is -- I will talk at a process level, and unfortunately that is where I will have to leave it.  This shows some of the very real, tough decisions that are made as part of this process.


Some -- there has been a decision when they went through this category to take a look at this level of expenditure, and they have -- they, the senior management team, have made a decision that this work can be deferred or delayed for some period of time, and that was one of the accommodations that was necessary.


Once again, it is hard to look at any one thing and say that, you know, they were happy with that, they just moved it.  Obviously, they have moved a lot of items in 2009 to later years to accommodate all of the various constraints in the process.

But in terms of specifically what was that work, I don't have that with me.  I'm sorry.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps I can get an undertaking.  So if somebody at the company can give it, just a description of what was included in that category and the implications of eliminating it.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  That is J4.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.2:  TO PROVIDE A DESCRIPTION OF WHAT WAS INCLUDED IN THE CAPITAL CATEGORY AND THE IMPLICATIONS OF ELIMINATING IT

MR. BUONAGURO:  And looking at, in the same part of the table, development, and looking at inter-area network transfer capability, and I notice that the variance between 2009 minimum level and filed is around 131 million?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And there appears to be an almost direct correlation to the increase in 2010?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Does that generally mean that you deferred a bunch of inter-area network transfer capability development projects from '09 to '10?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally speaking, that is a correct assumption, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, we saw in your update that the budgets, in terms of spending -- for example, there was an undertaking -- I don't have it in front of me, but I had asked an undertaking about describing why it was that you were able to spend $60 million more in capital spending on development projects than you had anticipated for 2008, and the response I got back is, Oh, we managed to work on a bunch of projects, right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Assuming the Board were to approve this filed plan, that could happen here too, right?  For example, if you have the money, you might advance the 2010 $125 million spending that was deferred and do it in 2009, but the only real impact being the rate-base impact, assuming these are projects that would have gone in service in 2009.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  As part of the prudent management of the OM&A and capital work program, there is an operations committee which has the vice-presidents of all the major lines of businesses.  They meet on a monthly basis, and they take a look at the year-to-date results.  They take a look at recommendations for redirection of work.  They take a look at the projections.


To the extent that it makes sense from a system point of view, from a customer point of view, to bring work forward or defer work, those discussions are had on an ongoing basis.


I mean, once you make a plan, things change the day after you strike a plan.  And when you are operating with an electrical system where outages may no longer be available because of something that has happened totally out of our control, you need to make accommodations and move things around appropriately.  So that type of judgment is made on a regular basis.


Obviously, the operations committee has due regard for what the Ontario Energy Board has approved and the levels that are in the budget, but the reality of the day-to-day operations is they have to make decisions, in terms of work to bring forward or work to defer or work not to do.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So I think the answer is "yes", although there is a big, long process that goes behind it before you -- you don't just do it -- I hate to say it -- willy-nilly.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Certainly not done willy-nilly, and certainly, if you're talking about, you know, by a snap of a finger you can move $100 million around, I mean, that just isn't the case.  It is very difficult to move major work around, in terms of the procurement process, getting the right skills, what work are you going to do and not do.


So we're very proud that we were able to achieve 60 million more than we thought we could achieve in transmission.  There was a lot of really good work done at the company to make sure that we could get that work done.  But it certainly isn't a simple process.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I think those are my questions.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Thank you.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.


I have on my list AMPCO is next.  Mr. Crocker?

MR. CROCKER:  Mr. Buonaguro, I'd ask before you sort of pack up and leave your high-tech approach to this, whether you could sort of stay where you are, so that I can refer back to one of your slides, please.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.


MR. CROCKER:  Thanks.
Cross-examination by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  I should tell you that there is not much left after other counsel have gone through what they have gone through, but I would like to go back to AMPCO's interrogatory of you that Mr. Buonaguro covered with respect to compensation.


And Mr. Buonaguro covered the issue that we were going to cover, and then your counsel, in the questions he asked you with respect to re-examination, covered the follow-up I was going to ask you.  But it leaves me with another question.


How would that information have -- how would the Board have known that information if Mr. Buonaguro had not entered into this discussion?  How were you going to -- how were you proposing to let the Board know that there was $400,000 of OM&A that shouldn't be charged as a result of your changes to compensation?


MR. ROGERS:  Well, first of all, if I may, just to comment, to say that it shouldn't be charged is not quite accurate.  There are hundreds of changes that would have to be made if we were going to update this application.

But having said that, I will withdraw and let the witness deal with the question.


MR. MCDONELL:  I think your question was, to me, how was that information about the MCP reduction going to come out in this hearing?  Is that...?

MR. CROCKER:  How would the Board have known?


MR. MCDONELL:  Well, I anticipated that kind of question was going to be raised by just reading some of the interrogatories.  It hadn't been raised to date when that line of questioning came up.  I didn't know if that was an opportune time.  I spoke to counsel at break, and we agreed that this would be the appropriate time to raise that issue.
  MR. CROCKER:  But don't you think it would have been more -- "responsible" may be too harsh a word, but responsible of you to update your information rather than waiting for the cross-examination, which might come out, to let the Board know what your plans -- not your personal plans -- what Hydro One's plans were with respect to that issue?

MR. ROGERS:  Could I interrupt, Madam Chair?  First of all, this is not the panel to deal with how the rate application was put together.  Particularly this witness who has never been here before and is probably the least knowledgeable about your processes.

But the company filed an application.  It has answered hundreds and hundreds of interrogatories.  There are literally hundreds -- thousands of changes that could be made if we were to -- if they were to file this application today.  So it is really not fair to say that -- to imply that somehow this $400,000 adjustment has been hidden or something.

I mean, when the load forecaster comes on Monday, the effect of the load forecast alone would swamp this.  The company is not asking to adjust it.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Crocker, I do understand the company's position.  They have, I understand, made it quite clear that based on the 2008 actuals, if they were to update their filing, there would be changes in a variety of areas.  I think they made that quite clear, so I am not sure what further -- going into the specifics of this individual change.  I mean, I think we are well aware of the company's position and how it is approaching it.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand, Madam Chair, that $400,000 in the grand scheme of this is not a lot of money, but one wonders whether -- how many more of those $400,000 updates aren't before you and, therefore, whether there should have been more updating.  That's the only point that we're trying to make.

Mr. Buonaguro, could you put your graph up again, please?  Looking at this simplistically, if I were to say that the risk at its highest would be that the lights would go out and the furnaces would stop, and the risk at the lowest would be that there would be no interruptions of service and everything would be lovely and sweet for the period, that's the kind of analysis that you do; correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally speaking, that's correct, but that is exactly what we did.  I tried to explain a bit of that yesterday in other cross-examination.  Across all of our business values, we very specifically define:  What does it mean to have something really bad, what do we mean by really bad and what do we mean by okay?  But your point, generally speaking, is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  If you are asking the Board to assess where you should be in terms of the funding and, therefore, what the risk might be from your being there, shouldn't you do -- shouldn't you provide some sense as to what some of the intermediate risks are?

For instance, at some point in this, some of my clients, my waste management clients who want to put some of the electricity resulting from their landfill gas on your system, are going to have to wait a little bit longer, because your system is not going to be -- the queue is going to stay as it is.

At some point, that is the risk that is going to be -- that you identify in quantifying the results of the funding.  Shouldn't the Board know some of those intermediate risks, specifically?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Hydro One has filed this evidence on the prioritization process.  This year, we were asked for more detail.  We filed an exhibit on work program execution, and then, in addition, we filed -- in response to specific questions about, How do you get from doing an asset condition study to this thing ending up in the rate filing, we filed Exhibit A14, tab 4, which was the investment plan development.

So I think Hydro One has responded to the need for additional information on:  How do we make our decisions?  What is your process?


Then of course now that these two other exhibits have been filed and the cross-examination of the panel on them, I think we have provided a fair bit more information in terms of our risk-based process.

MR. CROCKER:  So you think with the subsequent filing -- with those subsequent filings, then, that the Board has sufficient information in order to assess the risk-reward kind of position that they think is appropriate?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Certainly we feel we've put a fair bit of information in front of the Board.  To the extent that the Board feels they need more information, I am sure in cross-examination they could ask me further questions or ask for further information to be filed.

Once again, it is a matter of a level of detail.  It is a comprehensive process that runs for many months.  There are lots of information exchanges and decisions made.  It's a level of detail that is required by the Board to understand our filing and everything.


To Mr. Rogers' point, there are all sorts of interrogatories.  We do stakeholdering.  We actually dealt with the risk-based prioritization process in the 2006 distribution filing.  I believe we had a session on that for stakeholders.

So there is a fair bit of information made available, but I stand to be asked further questions by the Board and other intervenors.

MR. CROCKER:  I guess we can argue at the end whether we think there is enough information for the Board.  Okay.

Can I ask you, please, to turn up C1, tab 2, schedule 5, please?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have that.

MR. CROCKER:  Dealing with Cornerstone credits, do you see the graph?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  I looked at the update over the page and I notice that the Cornerstone credit numbers haven't changed; correct?

MR. CURTIS:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Where do I find those credits?  Where do they show on any of the other work that you've done?  Where do I see them?

MR. CURTIS:  Maybe I need a clarification of your question.

The credits are outlined, for example, on the capital side in Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 7.

MR. CROCKER:  Sorry, D1?

MR. CURTIS:  D1, tab 3, schedule 7.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. CURTIS:  And on that, we present what the year-by-year capital savings are as a result of Cornerstone.

MR. CROCKER:  That's where they are?

MR. CURTIS:  In terms of the filing, yes, that's -- that specifically identifies what the saving amounts are.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Where do we see how they end up in -- just for argument, in your programs?

MR. CURTIS:  They do not translate directly into the work programs.  Cornerstone savings are a result of process improvements across the organization.  So they are not identified with individual work programs that way.

What happens is they apply to processes that cross over many different work programs, and so there is not that ability to attribute them to individual work programs.

Maybe I could expand a little bit on that.  I think, as Mr. Van Dusen has explained, Hydro One is a work-based corporation.  So we cost work out in terms of individual work programs or work projects.

Cornerstone is fundamentally -- affects processes.  So those processes cross many different work programs.  So, for example, Cornerstone would have efficiencies in terms of work management processes, and so where there are many different work programs that are affected by that, you can attribute the savings to the process improvement, but because it crosses many different work programs, you can't really attribute it back down to individual work.


MR. CROCKER:  So there won't be line items I would be able to find in looking that way for Cornerstone credits?


MR. CURTIS:  No, unfortunately not.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Could I ask you then, please, to turn up C1, tab 2, schedule 12 to follow up on the discussion Mr. Buonaguro had with you about property taxes.

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have that.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  The budget for the bridge year was $59.7 million, correct?  The estimate?  On the original -- I'm sorry, I'm looking at page 1 of 7, table 1.

MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's on our initial filing, and that number has been updated --

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  59.7.  Okay.  That's -- no, I understand that.  That's the original number.  You agree with me.

MR. INNIS:  Yes, correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  We go over the page at the update, and the actual taxes were 57.6 million.


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. CROCKER:  Correct?  Okay.  That's over $2 million below what you estimated, correct?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. CROCKER:  These are pretty simple -- I just want to put the issues on the record.


You have -- that's -- you have estimated 61.9-.  Also correct?  For 2009?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  In your update?  That's almost -- just under -- 3.6 percent, a 3.6 percent increase?


MR. INNIS:  I will take your number, sure.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Your estimate was over $2 million below what actuals were for 2008.


What reliance should we have in your estimates for 2009 in that regard, or in that light?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  In 2009 -- we have already gone through some of the key planning assumptions that were made.  That gave us the value that is used for our 2009 budget.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. INNIS:  With respect to 2008, I agree that the number did come in slightly under what we had projected, and that would be for a number of reasons, such as delays in some reassessments, and also some other reassessments that were successfully appealed, and we did not have the increases that we expected.

So in 2008 -- we were under for those reasons in 2009.  We are expecting an increase because of the general increase in the municipal tax rates, and also property reassessments values.

MR. CROCKER:  Would any updates -- if you had done any updates, would that have changed your view of your expected increase?


MR. INNIS:  I am not aware of any reason to change that number right now.  This is the value that was submitted, and I received no information that would lead for us to update that assumption.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can I take you, please, to C1, tab 2, schedule 3.  And could we go to table 1.  Other counsel have spent a fair bit of time on this, and there isn't much I would like to ask you beyond what has already been asked, except just a couple of things.


How do you propose to track the amounts of these projects in the deferral accounts?  How is it going to be set up?  Are you going to track them project by project?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Excuse us for a minute, please.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. ROGERS:  Can I just observe that what's on the screen is confusing.  That's the wrong table 1.

MS. CHAPLIN:  There is two table 1s, yes.


MR. CROCKER:  I'm sorry, I meant the big one.

MR. ROGERS:  The big one on page 7.

MR. CROCKER:  My IT -- I apologize for my IT assistant.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I didn't know there were two table 1s.


MR. INNIS:  You had us wondering which table.


MR. ROGERS:  What's the answer, please?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, just a minute, please.  I need to turn to that.


The list of projects that you see in Exhibit C1, tab 2, Schedule 3, page 7, these are indeed the projects that we're requesting special treatment for in a deferral account.


So what we would be doing is, with the Board approving our request for that deferral account, we would be charging all project costs associated with this list into that deferral account, and then what we would be doing is tracking those costs, and then coming before the Board at a next proceeding to seek disposition of that deferral account.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  But that doesn't answer my question.  My question was, are you tracking them project by project, or will there be one account for all of these projects, all of the pre-development work?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I can clarify that.  What we would be doing is, each of these projects would be tracked specifically through our project costing system.  However, when we do charge these amounts to a deferral account, we would be reporting the deferral account in aggregate, but certainly we would have the supporting detail available to talk to any one of those projects individually.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And if it turns out that one or more of these projects is put out for competitive tender, and Hydro One doesn't -- isn't successful, and this isn't one of their projects, therefore, will Hydro One's customers -- that is, broadly speaking -- bear the costs of this pre-development work?


MR. INNIS:  What we would be doing at the time is we would be coming back before the Board, and we would be providing evidence to support a request to clear this account.


What I would expect is that we would go through and explain why we undertook that project, we would demonstrate prudency in the incurrence of our costs, and then we would be prepared to answer questions on those projects.  And given that we had incurred these costs, certainly we would be optimistic that they could be recovered.

MR. ROGERS:  Just the company position, of course.  That will be the Board's decision at the appropriate time.


MR. CROCKER:  I don't think it is unfair to ask the witness what his expectations are.


The aggregate pre-development work you are -- you are proposing here is $47.9 million.  And that's a lot of money.  You would agree with that?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's a lot of money.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  What's involved in this pre-development work?  How pre-development is it?  In other words, are things like environmental assessments included?  Do you know?

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me for interrupting.  I'm sorry, Mr. Crocker.  This is a panel 2 topic.  It was dealt with in panel 2.  I don't know whether these witnesses would have this information.


MR. CROCKER:  Well, he can tell me he doesn't have it.  I am sure he is a big boy.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I have to say something over four or five days.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Gentlemen.


MR. ROGERS:  I apologize.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Can the witness answer the question?


MR. INNIS:  I can answer questions with respect to how we're going to do the accounting and what our expectation is.  Are you asking specifically the nature of the engineering work undertaken?


MR. CROCKER:  Mm-hmm, yes.


MR. INNIS:  That's not my area of expertise.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Anybody else on the panel know anything about that?


Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are our questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.

We will break now for lunch.  As I say, we will be returning at two o'clock, and I believe, Mr. DeVellis, you are up next.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  Thank you.


MS. CHAPLIN:  See you at 2:00.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess at 12:25 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 2:04 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

I see from our time estimates that we should be able to finish this panel today, and in and around 5 o'clock, and that would certainly be the Board's preference, would be to get this panel finished before Monday.  So I am hoping everyone will continue to stay to their estimates.

Unless there is -- are there any preliminary matters?

MR. ROGERS:  No.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Then, Mr. DeVellis, I believe you are next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. DeVellis:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, yes.  Good afternoon, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, panel.  I just have a couple of follow-up questions from some of your discussions this morning, and then I will get to my prepared questions.

The first is on -- do you have Exhibit J2.7 handy?  Sorry to make you go over this again, but...

I think you were discussing with Mr. Buonaguro, or perhaps Mr. Thompson, the various levels of spending for the various programs.  You had minimum level, level 1 and level 2.

I take it -- I don't recall from your answer whether you said that you review each -- when you go through the various iterations, do you review each program individually, or do you go from an overall level 1 or whatever it was, whatever you started with, to a different level?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  We review each individual program individually.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So I take it, then, for some these, for example, land assessment and remediation, whatever the different programs, some will be at the minimum level, some will be at level 1, some will be at level 2; is that fair to say?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  When the planners initially bring back their information for consideration, we ask them to bring back several levels for discussion with senior management.

So for, in your example, land assessment and remediation, we would bring a minimum level with a description and the residual risk and the level 1, level 2, potentially more levels, if they needed that, to describe the types of work that they may be able to undertake over the planning period.

MR. DeVELLIS:  As far as your as-filed amounts for each program, some would be at minimum level, some would be at level 1, some at level 2; is that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Is it possible to get a breakdown of that, to have this table broken down by which programs are at level 1, et cetera?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Well...

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I have a couple of questions, Madam Chair.  I need to know what is involved from my client's standpoint, but how is this going to help the Board?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. DeVellis?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I mean, we've had various discussions with other counsel about where your various budgets lie -- or where your budget lies in relation to minimum, et cetera, and if people want to make -- to the extent people want to make submissions to the Board regarding alternative amounts for recovery in your rate application, it would be helpful, I think, to know which programs are at the absolute minimum, which programs are at level 2, which programs are at level 1.  That's what I'm asking for that.


Right now, all we have is minimum and as filed.  We don't know where the various amounts lie on that spectrum.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. DeVellis, just so I can understand, to the extent -- as you say, we have the filed and the minimum, so it would be a matter of, in those variance columns, how much are attributable to the extent that it's -- to be the extent that the filed is higher than the minimum, it would be those amounts that are in the variance column, how much are attributable to level 1 and level 2?

MR. DeVELLIS:  No.  I mean, I would expect there would just be another column, and for each row you would have, This is level 1, this is level 2, et cetera.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I guess what I'm trying to understand is wouldn't levels 1 and 2 lie, you know, above the minimum, and then perhaps also above the -- in between the minimum and the filed?  I guess I am just wondering the --

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, they would.  My question is:  Where on the spectrum?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Are you particularly interested -- this is the capex table.

MR. DeVELLIS:  No, I was looking at OM&A.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So it is an explanation, for example, for the year 2009, the 57.7 million, how much is level 1 and how much is level 2, and to which areas it is attributable?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  Well, no.  I would expect there to be the same table.  It would just be each line item would be -- the as-filed amount would be -- for example, land assessment and remediation, the as-filed amount is 1.6 million.  That would be level 1, as an example.

Then the next line item would be some other level.

MS. CHAPLIN:  How difficult would that be to do?

MR. ROGERS:  I suspect a lot more difficult than it would appear.  Could I ask maybe Mr. Van Dusen to help us with this?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Mr. DeVellis, let me explain why it would be difficult to do.

Within each one of these areas that you are talking about -- land assessment and remediation may not be a good example, but let me proceed on that.

Within each one of those areas - we call them investment drivers internally, for whatever that means - there are several projects and programs associated with the various levels.  So with minimum level, there is a series of -- set of specific programs and projects that would be associated with that level, and different and more projects and programs with a level 1 and level 2 and level 3.

So when we go through the process of doing our applying the constraints and coming down to the final level, parts of any one of these drivers, as I call them, would be minimum or level 1, level 2, so we can say, in aggregate, you know, they're above the minimum level.

But to go through and say, Well, this has two level 2s and one level 1, so we will call it a level one-and-three quarters, I would be into that type of exercise.

So I'm not overly sure how helpful that is going to be for the Board, but it would take some time to put together, too.  I would have to go down and take a look at the details in each one of these drivers and break out the projects and programs and take a look where we ended up.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That's fine.  It sounded to me, initially, when you were talking about it, that would be something easily done, but it doesn't sound like it is, so that's fine.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I would like to ask you now about your deferral account for your pre-engineering IPSP work.  I did start to ask panel 1 about this and they deferred me to you, in case you were going to try to defer me back to panel 1.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I wouldn't do that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I want to ask you about the rationale for why these costs should be in - Mr. Stephenson doesn't like my question - a deferral account.

Could I ask you to turn to Exhibit F1, tab 1, schedule 2?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So beginning on page 2, you say at line 19:
"At this time Hydro One Transmission faces a highly compressed time table for action to commence work on these projects, with no assurance that capital assets will in fact materialize as a result of these expenditures."

And then over to page 3, you say:
"In this case, Hydro One Transmission's cost recovery depends on approval of the IPSP which is currently under review by the Board."

And my question is how -- that seems to be different from what we were told in the development capital -- from the development capital panel, and that is that the various capital -- development capital projects that are in their development capital budget are going ahead, anyway, despite the status, the current status, of the IPSP.


You seem to be saying something different here, so I am wondering if you can explain that.

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I can help there.  The list of projects that we are asking for this deferral account, that's the list that is contained in Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 3.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.

MR. INNIS:  So this deferral account relates specifically to those projects, which are a subset of the overall development projects.  These projects here are going into the deferral accounts per our request, and these are costs that would normally have been expensed, but what we're asking for in this proceeding is to support our approach for the accounting treatment to put these in a deferral account.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  My question, though, is:  How are these different from your development capital projects, generally?  You seem to be saying that they rely or they're contingent on approval of the IPSP and it doesn't seem to be -- it didn't seem to be what the development capital budget was saying -- panel was saying.

MR. INNIS:  The projects in this list here are not development capital.  These are pre-engineering capital, pre-engineering projects that have not met the accounting classification definition to be capitalized.

So in the normal course of events, any expenditure that's made before a preferred alternative is chosen, projects of that nature have to be expensed.  It's only when you reach the point of decision that there is indeed a capital project here that meets the accounting criteria, that can then be put into a capitalization process.

So these are projects that do not meet the accounting criteria to be capitalized.  Therefore, they have to be either treated as OM&A or current-period expenses, or in this particular case what we're asking for is not to treat them as OM&A expenses, but we're asking to track these costs in the deferral account for future disposition.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  No, I apologize.  I should have specified.  The development capital projects that I'm referring to are development capital projects that are pre-IPSP projects.


And those are -- the applicant is asking for those to be in your capital budget without -- there's no contingency based on the status of the IPSP.  These pre-engineering projects, you seem to be saying, do -- are contingent on the IPSP approval.


MR. INNIS:  These projects would be related to the IPSP work, with the exception of the number 18, which is the Darlington BGS, which has a separate need.  And these are projects, as I mentioned, that don't meet the standard classification for capitalization like those others that you are asking about.

So these are ones from an accounting point of view that cannot be capitalized.  So we have to treat them -- we have to treat them differently.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And your rationale -- as far as your rationale for putting them in a deferral account, are you saying that the costs are beyond Hydro One's control?

MR. INNIS:  No, the costs aren't beyond Hydro One's control.  So given that these projects would be proceeding, the way we look at it is, there would be two choices.  One choice would be to put these as OM&A, which would be in the current-period operating cost, which would, in this particular case, increase our revenue requirement.  We've chosen not to do that, and seek special approval for this approach to put these in a deferral account.

So we looked at this as only being two choices, because of the nature of these projects, either OM&A or deferral account, and we have chosen the deferral-account route.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, just one further delineation, in terms of the difference in these projects.  I think one of the issues with these projects is, it not quite clear to us, based on the status of the IPSP, that these projects necessarily will go ahead or, in some cases, will necessarily, through the process that's been established, come to Hydro One for them to actually undertake the construction.


However, we feel it is very important that we start the pre-engineering.  If it does come to the point where we need to move on these, and then the IPSP agrees these are important projects, and we get the go-ahead for us to do the construction work, if we don't do this pre-engineering, we'll be behind the eight-ball.

So we see it as prudent as the company to sort of start undertaking these, but because the recovery down the road is a little bit unclear, we've asked for the deferral account treatment.  That's one of the other reasons.


MR. DeVELLIS:  No, I appreciate that.  I was actually moving on to another point, and that is why you are, in effect, not suggesting that there be any forecast of the costs in rates.  It looks like you do have a forecast of what the costs would be, but as far as revenue treatment of them, you don't want to have a forecast.  You want to be -- if it is straight deferral-account treatment, it means whatever the costs are is what gets recorded into the account.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Coming back to the Board for their consideration, in terms of the prudence of the disposition in some future proceeding, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But my question was, are
those -- are the actual costs of the projects, in terms of the scope of your work, is that out of your control, or is that something that you could control to meet towards a -- to try and meet the forecast that you've established?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It's fully within our control.  Like I say, we're taking what we think are very reasonable and prudent steps to start this work now.  There is an expectation that this will -- may come to fruition, and we would rather be ahead of the game, in terms of doing the pre-engineering, such that we can be very responsive to the government initiatives or the OPA direction.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Thank you.  I have some questions on your -- the benchmarking and compensation study.  But before I turn to it, can I ask you to turn to Exhibit A7-1.  This is a map of the northern Ontario transmission system, I believe.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  It is Exhibit A, tab 7, schedule 1, it looks like page 1.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  The reason I am asking is, one of the benchmark categories was transmission and distribution compensation per service kilometre.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And I thought that what you said to Mr. Faye yesterday was that you calculate your service territory by taking the land mass of Ontario and applying a percentage, based on Hydro One's percentage of the transmission system.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I agree, that's what I said, and I now have -- can correct myself.  I have just received further clarification just over the lunch hour.

The entire -- this -- actually, when we take a look at service territory, we literally physically look at the service territory, not the entire province.  So the entire province is approximately 900 square kilometres, and we have claimed our service territory to be approximately 650,000 square kilometres.  So I stand corrected on that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Because my question -- the question was going to be, I guess you've already answered it.  It doesn't look like there are many transmission lines in the northwest part of the province there, so...

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, I apologize.  I misspoke.


MR. DeVELLIS:  All right.  Could I ask you to turn to -- still staying with the benchmarking compensation issue, one of our interrogatories at Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 26.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And I preface my question by referring to the Mercer report.  I don't think you need to turn it up, but one of the things that Mercer says in its guiding principles -- it is at page 7 of the report, but -- is that:

"Productivity comparisons may be most useful as a means of evaluating Hydro One's performance in controlling or improving productivity over time, rather than effectively measuring it at a point in time."

Do you recall that from the Mercer report?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I do.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And so what we have asked for in part A of our interrogatory was, for the various benchmark results -- for you to provide us with an update for using 2009 data for those results.


And your response was, well, the productivity indicators used actual results.  You don't have -- obviously, you don't have 2009 actual results.  But I guess my question was, can you provide us with an equivalent amount using your forecast for 2009?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, could you repeat your question?  I'm not quite sure I understand it.


MR. DeVELLIS:  You have a number of productivity indicators in the Mercer Wyman study.  There were transmission and distribution compensation per megawatt hour sold, transmission and distribution compensation per gross asset value --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  -- et cetera.  But those, I believe, are based on 2006 data?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's my understanding, yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And so what I was asking for was for an update to those measures using your forecast 2009 data.  Is that something that can be done?

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  Once again, I hate to interrupt, but once again, I don't quite understand how this would be of value.  Wouldn't you have to have, Madam Chair, the updated forecasts of all the comparators?


MS. CHAPLIN:  I think Mr. DeVellis's question went to the trend within Hydro One over time.


MR. ROGERS:  Right.


MS. CHAPLIN:  And not the comparison at a single point in time.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, exactly.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, forgive me.  I thought this was a comparison study, but...

MR. DeVELLIS:  No, I mean, obviously, I wouldn't expect you to get the updated value from all the comparators, but for Hydro One I would imagine that you would have that data.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I believe it can be done relatively easily, so if it can be of value to the Board, I will ask my clients to do it.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J4.3.  Could you repeat it, please, Mr. DeVellis?
Undertaking No. J4.3:  To provide the productivity indicators from the Mercer Wyman study using forecast 2009 data for Hydro One, only.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  To provide the updated productivity indicators from the Mercer Wyman study using forecast 2009 data.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sir, can I just add to that, for Hydro One only?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  Otherwise, you would have to do redo the whole study, so just Hydro One.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I'm not really sure we would characterize it as updated.  Perhaps they are forecast on the basis of the filed application.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, yes.  Thank you.

Now, with respect to the compensation portion of the Mercer report, is it fair to say that the intention was to choose companies that were similar to Hydro One so that a fair comparison could be made?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  I think that is fair to say.  I think the point was we were trying to find companies for which we compete in the same labour market for the staff that we need to hire, as well as the companies that might attract our staff, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  In fact, in your terms of reference for the Mercer Wyman study - I don't think you need to turn it up, but it's at Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 45 - one of the terms of reference was Mercer Wyman was to assess how reasonable Hydro One's compensation costs are compared to the benchmark group.  Do you recall that from the terms of reference?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  And that's consistent with the direction given by the board, the previous distribution board.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Are you satisfied that that was done by the Mercer people?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Mr. Faye took you yesterday to your statement at Exhibit A, tab 16, schedule 3 - again, I don't think you need to turn it up - where you say:
"The positive productivity results balance Hydro One's total compensation being above market median."

Do you recall that discussion with Mr. Faye yesterday?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, I do.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Mr. Faye went into a whole line of questioning regarding the applicability of the benchmark indicators.  I'm not going to do that.

We put a slightly different proposition to you in one of our interrogatories, and that was that your productivity -- given Mercer found that overall you were 17 percent above the median, your productivity would have to be well above the median in order for that -- for the productivity to offset the differential in compensation costs.

If I could ask you to turn to Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 25?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  The proposition I just stated was stated in our interrogatories -- part B of the interrogatory, and your answer was that you didn't agree with the inference drawn from the question, the reason being that what you say is:
"There are a number of factors that can drive compensation levels, productivity being one of them."

Then you list some others, such as geography, history, customer service, satisfaction, safety, reliability, et cetera.

Now, you will agree with me, though, that's not a qualification that Mercer makes.  Mercer goal was to find reasonable comparators to Hydro One, and they found the comparators and they found, Well, this is the difference.  And you seem to now be qualifying their results but saying, Well, the differences are partially due to productivity and partially due to these other factors.

I take it your position is -- Hydro One's position is nothing needs to be done about the variation that Mercer found?

MR. MCDONELL:  I certainly wouldn't agree with the reference that nothing has to be done, because I think we have pointed out that we have made many inroads in terms of reducing compensation and increasing productivity through other means.

I think Hydro One has a very strong track record during collective bargaining.  If I could invite you to go to Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, pages 7 through 9, you will see a fairly lengthy history of where Hydro One has been successful in reducing costs and increasing productivity.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Can I ask you to turn to page 19 of the Mercer report?

MR. MCDONELL:  I have that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That's at Exhibit A, tab 16, schedule 2, attachment 1.

MR. MCDONELL:  Pardon me?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Exhibit A, tab 16, schedule 2, attachment 1.

MR. MCDONELL:  You're asking about page 19 of the study?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Page 19, yes.  I was just reading the exhibit reference for the record.  These are the benchmark results for the PWU, I guess group; is that right?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  We see some overall PWU -- Mercer found that PWU overall was 21 percent over above the median; is that right?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  And we will see for some of the individual positions they looked at, the differences were much higher than 21 percent, for example, regional maintainer lines, 43 percent above the median.  There are some others there in the 40 percent range and some others in the high 20 percent range.

Is it Hydro One's position that those positions, the difference is made up for by higher productivity?

MR. MCDONELL:  I'm not sure I understand your question.  Is what made up?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, is the increase in compensation for these positions - some of these positions were, for example, 40 percent above the median - is that offset by higher productivity for each of those positions?

MR. MCDONELL:  No.  I think you have to look at, you know, the product of compensation is a number of things.  I mean, it's the legacy of our Ontario Hydro collective agreements.  That pretty much establishes a base floor for our classifications when we inherited them from Ontario Hydro, the fact that we have a multi-skilled workforce, and the fact that we need to have competitive wages and salaries and benefits in order to be able to attract the staff that we need to be able to run our operations.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I handed out an excerpt yesterday from the Collus Power Corporation's submissions in its recent rate application.  Mr. Millar, do you have those handy?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I do.  This will be Exhibit K4.2.
Exhibit No. K4.2:  Excerpt from Collus Power Corporation's submissions in its recent rate application.

MR. MILLAR:  It is a submission; is that what it is?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, an excerpt from Collus Power Corporation's submissions.

Do you have those?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I have that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I realize, of course, these are only Collus Power's submissions, and so we have to take it with a grain of salt, but I want to just read to you what they say and ask you your opinion about it, if that's okay.

So if you go to -- well, the second page of the document, beginning at line 323?

MR. MCDONELL:  Okay.

MR. DeVELLIS:  This is line 324 -- sorry, the second sentence in that paragraph.  What they say is:
"One of the economic realities of the LDC business that Collus must carefully consider and make decisions about is that a competitive salary must be paid to the skilled labour force it has or risk losing staff to higher paying positions with a company like ..."

I guess that is Hydro One Networks Inc.:
"It is evident in the electricity distribution sector that line personnel are a premium commodity and this will only get worse.  Hydro One pays a premium wage to their line personnel and this places pressure on all LDCs to stay in tune or lose their experienced staff."

Now, could I ask you:  Do you believe that what Collus is saying is true, that Hydro One pays a premium to its line personnel?

MR. MCDONELL:  No, I would not agree with that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Have you spoken to -- have you heard from Collus or other LDCs about this issue, about your wages in comparison to theirs?

MR. MCDONELL:  No, not that I'm aware of.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I take it, then, you haven't done any analysis as to the impact your pay structure has on other LDCs?

MR. MCDONELL:  Are you talking in respect to this?

MR. DeVELLIS:  No, just generally.

MR. MCDONELL:  I certainly would not even agree with the preface that we pay a premium rate.  I mean, one could interpret that to mean that we are consciously paying more in order to attract other staff from LDCs, and, quite frankly, we don't do that.

We hire -- and I think the reference is more about line personnel.  So I interpret that to be trade staff.  When we hire journeypersons, we do not hire, or very rarely, anyways, a journeyperson from a LDC.  Our strategy is to hire apprentices, and they're not necessarily coming from an LDC.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, okay.  I think -- I mean, it sounds like what -- your answer is that you don't intentionally go out and recruit people from other LDCs and pay them more to come to you.

MR. MCDONELL:  I don't even believe we intentionally -- I don't think we do hire.  We don't hire journeypersons from LDCs.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But that -- that's not necessarily only what Collus is saying.  They're saying, just generally, Hydro One pays more, and therefore we have to pay more, whether it is journeypersons or apprentices.


MR. MCDONELL:  Pardon me?


MR. DeVELLIS:  That's not -- it doesn't seem to be only what Collus is saying.  Collus seems to be saying that Hydro One pays more, whether it is journeypersons or apprentices, that your salaries are more, and that puts pressure on them.


MR. MCDONELL:  It's hard for me to comment about how they figure out their own compensation, but I refer you back to my previous comments about, what is the product of compensation, and it's the fact that we have a multi-skilled workforce, we have a TX and a DX operation, and we need to have competitive wages and salaries.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Thanks.  I will move on then.


Do you have Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 24 handy?  And you have given us here a number of apprentices that are expected to be hired over the test years.


MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And you said that they're given an initial training period and then put into productive work.


MR. MCDONELL:  That's sort of a summary of it, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And so what we were trying to get is a cost of the apprentice program.  And I believe what your answer is, is that it's impossible to track the cost, because the apprentices are put into productive work relatively soon after they're hired; is that right?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's generally the response, yes.  It's possible.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But -- okay.  I thought your evidence in other areas was that apprentices need to be brought on in advance of whatever -- you are projecting retirements of senior staff, for example.  They have -- so you have to hire people in advance so that they can be brought up-to-speed, trained and brought up-to-speed.

So it seemed from that, that that meant that you would have apprentices working alongside of more experienced staff.  Is that not the case?

MR. MCDONELL:  Well, that could be the case.  We could have apprentices working alongside journeypersons, but we could also have apprentices working more in isolation, and that's sort of the productivity advantage that we have here, because we can structure the work in such a way that we could control the type of work that they're doing in a safe and predictable manner, and have apprentices -- of course, a lower-rated classification -- be able to perform work that otherwise a more expensive journeyperson would have to do.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So is it not -- I don't know, but is it possible to get an estimate of what the costs of the apprentice program -- for the portion of the program where you have people working alongside of other people, which means you'd have two people doing the same job.  You wouldn't have an estimate of what that would cost?


MR. MCDONELL:  I don't want to mislead you.  Hopefully, I haven't.  When you say that -- it seems to me you're suggesting that there is some job-shadowing going on, and I wouldn't say that is job-shadowing.


If they are working alongside a journeyperson, they would be doing work that has to be done.  They would be assisting the journeyperson, or they would be working by themselves on work that they can work towards the skills that they have.


MR. DeVELLIS:  But is that a job that would ordinarily be done by one person that is now being done by two because you have the apprentice, or is that something that would be always be done by two people?

MR. MCDONELL:  I mean, maybe in the early stage of the apprenticeship, just like anybody has to be trained, they've got to be shown how to do some work.  But when they are working with a qualified journeyperson, they're learning from the journeyperson, but they're also doing work that has to be completed within their skill set.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Thank you.


This is another question I asked of previous panel, and they deferred me to you.  Do you have somewhere in your evidence the proportion of your total compensation costs that are capitalized?  I wasn't able to find it.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I believe there is something that's close to what you're asking.  Just give me a moment, please.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.


MR. INNIS:  I think where you would find that would be in our evidence, under Exhibit C1, tab 5, schedule 2, regarding the overhead capitalization rate.


And in that exhibit, there is an attachment, which is the study that was done by our consultant.  And if you turn to Attachment A of that exhibit, on page 1, you will see information there that looks at the TX labour content, split between O&M costs and capital costs.  That's on lines 28 and 29 of Attachment A, page 1.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I don't have lines in my attachment.  Sorry, what was the reference again?  C1, tab 5?


MR. INNIS:  If you go to C1-5-2.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Mm-hmm.

MR. INNIS:  Attachment A, page 1.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I have Attachment 1.  I don't see Attachment A.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Attachment A is at the end of Attachment 1.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Sorry, go ahead.


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  So you are on that page?  If I could direct you to lines 28 and 29 and 30.  And under the 2009 column, what you will see are the total labour costs, and then that's split on line 28 by O&M and line 29 by capital.  And on line 31, that's an estimate of the labour content.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Thank you.


I have one question about property taxes.  And again, this is just following up on your discussion with Mr. Buonaguro this morning.  I thought that your explanation to him was that you take your assessed value -- you assume 2 percent as an overall increase, and then another 2 percent for projected increases in the assessed value of the properties; is that right?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And to do that, it sounded like what you said was, you assumed that if the assessed value of properties goes up by 2 percent, then your property taxes goes up by 2 percent.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I was wondering about that, because from my understanding that's not how property-tax increases work.  They're based on a mill rate, and assuming there is no overall increase, assuming -- so the overall increase is zero percent, if all property values increased by 2 percent, then the mill rate is decreased by 2 percent, until the net result is zero increase for everybody.  And so it is only if your property value increases by more than 2 percent will you be affected.  Do you...?  Does that sound right?

MR. INNIS:  Yes.  You're looking at it from the point of view of the municipality, if all their assessments go up by 2 percent.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.

MR. INNIS:  That would be the case, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  So only if your -- if your assessed values increase by more than the average, then what you're saying would be true.  But if you are just taking your increase in assessed values and translating that into a projected property-tax increase, that wouldn't be correct, would it?


MR. INNIS:  What we've done is look at our assessed values going up, and that would have to be unique to us, as opposed to everyone else going up by 2 percent.  Yes, I believe that's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  But when you say you're projecting a 2 percent increase, is that a 2 percent increase in your assessed values?

MR. INNIS:  It's a 2 percent increase in the assessed values of our properties.  What we're finding is a lot of the properties that we have are -- had very old property values, and so there is some catch-up taking place because they have not been assessed for a number of years.  And so we are seeing increases in our assessments, because of the age of some of the property assessments that we have.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  In terms of the -- sorry.  The projected 2009 value, I had -- you had originally projected -- based on your 2008 forecast and your 2009 forecast, the projected increase was 3.6 percent.

Now, based on your 2008 actuals versus 2009, you're now looking at a 7.4 percent increase over 2008 actuals.

MR. INNIS:  Over 2008 actuals, correct, and the reason being is that 2008 actuals came up less than projected because of refunds of assessments, as well as some of the anticipated increases not materializing.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So you don't think that you have to re-evaluate your 2009 forecast?  It seems like your 2009 forecast is based on your projection for 2008.

MR. INNIS:  No.  Our 2009 forecast is based on our assessment of what our expenses will be in 2009.

For example, if we received a one-time property assessment refund in 2008, we cannot reasonably expect that to be the case again in 2009.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I have one last area of questions, and that is with respect to your asset management costs.  They are found at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 8.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I think Mr. Buonaguro asked you about strategy and business development, and I want to ask you:  Overall, your projection for 2008 was 120.6 million for your total asset management costs?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Your total came in at 102.5 million?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So about a $20 million difference.  So now your 2009 forecast you have left at 123.6, and that is now a 21 percent increase over your 2008 actuals?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  You've been asked this over and over again, but you don't see a reason to re-evaluate 2009 forecast on the basis of your 2008 actuals?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, we don't, and let me explain.  Under the expenditure in 2008 versus what we originally submitted was primarily due as a result of hiring lags.

As we have talked about at several points in the evidence, and Mr. McDonell has talked about, we are still finding there is quite a challenge getting the qualified individuals we need into the company across a wide range of areas.  That is most predominant in the engineering construction services area, but still we require detailed engineering expertise in this area to develop detailed plans that eventually come before this Board.

We had some hiring lags in terms of bringing on the staff to our expectation.  Near the end of the year, we got almost up to the complement we had hoped to, and therefore we feel confident that the 2009 and 2010 expenditures are reasonable.

In 2008, we were able to get most of the critical work done by using a combination of contract staff, temporary staff, some consultants, but there was some work that didn't get done in 2008, because we were unable to bring these people on board.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So you mentioned the hiring lag, but you are now projecting a 21 percent increase in expenditures in 2009.  Don't you think you will have the same problem in terms of hiring lags?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  As I indicated, the hiring lag, we've mainly dealt -- mainly, not entirely, dealt with the hiring lag in 2008.

So there was an expectation that people would come in in quarter 1 or they only came in at quarter 3, or they would come at mid year and they only came in at the end of the year.

So our staff count numbers to that extent are almost up to the levels of the budget.  It's just that they weren't here for the period of time that we thought we would have them in the company.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That's fine, but you are still projecting a further increase in staff count for 2009?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  So there is an increase.  We had achieved the 120.6.  We were still predicting we would go to 123.6; that's correct.

And in this exhibit, we talk about the factors that drive the costs in this area, and they're very heavily tied to the size of the work program, the complexity of the work program.  This is the group that develops all the detailed investment plans that eventually become part of the Sunnybrook process and eventually become part of the Board material in terms of the budget and business plan.


To the extent that you are planning, developing, engineering a much more complex and significantly larger-in-volume work program, you would need more people to do that work.

MR. MCDONELL:  If I might just add, also, in 2009, the numbers of regular staff that we're bringing on are substantially less than what they were in 2008.

MR. DeVELLIS:  All right.

Okay, thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  Mr. Stephenson, I have you next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.

I am going to be dealing almost entirely with the compensation issue and various manifestations of that, and what I want to explore with the panel is essentially the kinds of pressures it faces in terms of where compensation is going -- has been and is going as a dynamic process, as opposed to dealing with it in absolute terms.

I want to start with this proposition.  Can we agree that Hydro One, it certainly in its transmission business is operating in a labour market that more or less is governed by the ordinary rules of supply and demand; that is, where there is -- demand is relatively greater than supply, prices tend to go up, and where supply is relatively greater than demand, prices tend to not go up?  Is that a fair --

MR. MCDONELL:  I think that is generally a fair statement, other than I would say what is somewhat unique in our business is that, as you know, the economy is not doing so well and there's lots of potential labour available.

And so even though there may be an increased supply of labour, that is not going to be reducing our labour costs.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am going to deal with that very specifically, but, as a general proposition, agree with me that, generally speaking, the ordinary rules more or less apply, and you may have some specific circumstances that affect your particular position?

MR. MCDONELL:  I agree with you, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And would you agree with me that for a variety of reasons, for the foreseeable future Hydro One is going to be facing a situation where there is significant demand pressures relative to supply, in terms of labour and in terms of fulfilling your labour needs?

MR. MCDONELL:  Oh, absolutely.  I think that we have a little bit of a perfect storm going on right at the moment.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I want to explore that.

MR. MCDONELL:  Okay.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Let me talk about the demand side of the equation for a moment.  One of the factors which is requiring Hydro One to have more demand for its various labour resources is that Hydro One is becoming a bigger company.  You are doing more work in 2009-2010 and the future than you did before.  Your work program is larger?

MR. MCDONELL:  This is true.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And, as I understand it, that was generally true, but there is, it appears, on the horizon even more pressure for Hydro One to become an even bigger company.  And what I am getting at there is I think most people are now familiar with the introduction of the Green Energy Act.  One of the things I heard about is that in order to implement that, assuming it occurs, is there's a forecast of a $5 billion transmission investment being made.

I take it you are generally -- you've heard that story?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, I have, and it's still very new.  I am not sure what the impact is, but, yes, I would agree with you.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.  And, again, this is somewhat looking into the future, but I am assuming that Hydro One expects that it's going to wind up doing some significant portion of that $5 billion of work, assuming there is $5 billion of work to be done?  I mean, that's a fair assumption, given your role in the transmission business in this province.


MR. MCDONELL:  I think, generally speaking, that is a fair bet.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And so if you get anywhere near your sort of existing proportion, we have to look at that as being an additional pressure, in terms of the size of this company on a go-forward basis.


MR. MCDONELL:  Agree.


MR. STEPHENSON:  The second issue that is facing you, in terms of the demand-side of the equation, is the demographic issue, correct?


MR. MCDONELL:  Absolutely, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And the demographic issue, generally speaking, is that you have got an aging workforce that is going to be -- you're forecasting a certain number of retirements in the future, fair enough?


MR. MCDONELL:  Oh, absolutely.  As our evidence shows, I mean, approximately 25 percent of our staff were eligible for retirement at the end of 2008, and that is just growing over the next number of years.  2012 it is 40 percent.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Just to be clear on this, as I understand it, even though -- obviously, not everybody that is eligible to retire does in fact retire, but there tends to be a cascading effect, sort of rolls up into the future, because if you are eligible to retire this year and you don't retire, you are still eligible to retire next year, and of course there's the newly-eligible-to-retires that come on next year.  So it tends to build on top of itself, at least until you get through it -- part of the demographic wave.

MR. MCDONELL:  I would agree.  If I could just make one small comment, because I think there is another metric that we should talk about, and that is the number of employees that have 35 years of service at Hydro One.


And that's a particularly significant threshold, because our experience is that staff who hit 35 years will tend to retire.  And the number of staff that are hitting 35 years is growing, and it goes right out to 2017 before we see it dip in the number of those staff who are reaching rule 35.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And that 35 is -- in part, I take it, it is your experience, because there are certain pension entitlements that typically crystallize at or about that time.

MR. MCDONELL:  That's -- yeah, and that they could make pension contributions; that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And so I take it that even if your company was not getting any bigger, you would have -- there would be a demand problem for you, because you've got to replace those bodies.  That issue exists regardless of how big your company is.

MR. MCDONELL:  Sure.  I think we have a very strong responsibility to make sure we have capable and competent staff ready to take over for those who will retire in the next few years, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And then the third demand issue that seems to me to exist is that the fact is that those first two items that I have talked about are not particularly unique to Hydro One, that other utilities, whether they be distribution utilities or other transmission utilities in Canada or other transmission utilities in North America, are sort of, broadly speaking, in the same boat.  They are also in growth modes, and they're also facing demographic pressures.


MR. MCDONELL:  Absolutely.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so they're also in the market looking to hire the very same people you are.

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, they are.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, let me talk for a moment about the economic "meltdown" that we've -- we are in, if that's the fair way to describe it.


And clearly, there are going to be people who are going to become unemployed as a result of that.  I think we are pretty clear about that.

But I am going to suggest to you that the mere fact that you've got some auto workers that wind up being out of work and -- or whatever, just using them as an example, that doesn't necessarily help you very much, in terms of filling your -- providing supply to meet your demand.  Is that fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  Not for the jobs that we have in critical shortages.  So, you know, you might have a mechanical engineer that doesn't have a job at GM.  Even though they might be an engineer, they are not going to be a power system engineer, so they -- without a whole lot of extra retraining, they won't be typically useful, no.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Maybe over time, but not in the near-term?


MR. MCDONELL:  Absolutely, no, fair.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And again, on the economic-meltdown issue, even though -- and I understand that you are forecasting lower demand, in terms of lower transmission throughput on your load forecast -- I take it that that doesn't have any material effect, at least in the short- or medium-term, in terms of the work program that needs to be done.


It doesn't -- there is no instant response on that regard.  That doesn't provide you with any relief, in terms of the magnitude of the work you have to do.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally speaking, that's correct in the short-term.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And I take it you don't, in terms of whatever plans you have in order to deal, for example, with either your -- the work plans you are rolling out over the next two to three years and/or your issues that you have to address your demographic issues, the mere fact that you are facing a lower load forecast next year doesn't affect those at all.


MR. MCDONELL:  I think you're referring to a -- absolutely not, because many of our classifications require years of training before they're competent and capable at the journeyperson level.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, let me talk to you for a moment about the supply side of the equation, in terms of what you're doing there.  I take it that part of the issue that Hydro One has had to face in the last five years, say, is that for the ten years prior to that you weren't in the recruitment business, in terms of hiring on large numbers of new people.  In fact, you were downsizing your company, or at least resizing your company.  You were a net -- on a net basis, you were getting smaller.


MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, for different reasons, but, yes, that's a fair statement.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But, for example, for many years you didn't run an apprenticeship program, because you didn't need to.

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And at a point in time you realized you had that need, and you got into that business, correct?


MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, around year 2000 we started to hire into the apprenticeship program, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so that has been -- even though there is -- there are clearly some costs associated with that, in the sense that if you had a ready supply of fully trained people out there, you know, you might not need to run an apprenticeship program, fair?  I mean --

MR. MCDONELL:  I suppose that's a fair comment.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But you have to do it, because you have found that, in order to run your business, that's a prudent thing to do, fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  Of course, it is also tied into the demographic issue, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Absolutely.  But I take it that you are engaged in a number of proactive activities.  You feel required to be engaged in a number of proactive activities to go out and recruit the kind of bodies you need today and for the future.  Fair enough?


MR. MCDONELL:  That's true.  And I would say in addition, I think we're very proactive in trying to develop the future employees that we need.  And what I mean by that, we have partnerships with universities and colleges so that we can help influence the curriculum, especially in the power-sector area, so that the universities will be able to produce the types of employees that the power sector will need, including Hydro One.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And, I mean, it's fair to say that those programs cost you some money, but I take it you feel that, in effect, it is an investment you have to make, because otherwise you're just not going to get the kind of bodies you need, and it is addressing -- it's filling the supply of which you have a demand for.


MR. MCDONELL:  It's a very good investment, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  Let me just talk for a moment about the categories of -- we talk about -- when you talk about compensation, frankly, it is always a bit confusing to me who we're talking about and what -- who is going into what buckets, so I want to talk for a moment about the kinds of employees -- the kinds of people who work for Hydro One.


And the first category I want to talk about are what Hydro One calls regular employees, regular full-time employees.  And broadly speaking, those fit into three categories that we see about in this case.  There are the management compensation employees, correct?


MR. MCDONELL:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  There are those represented by the Society of Engineering Professionals, correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And then there are the folks that are represented by my client, the Power Workers' Union.

MR. MCDONELL:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And then there is a second category of employees, which I think Hydro One refers to as "non-regular employees".  And those are employees who are not employed -- they're employed on a temporary basis.  Fair?  Non-permanent.


MR. MCDONELL:  Non-permanent, seasonal, yes, I agree with that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And there is a variety of different categories of those kinds of folks.  One such category is some folks that my client represents that are members of the PWU Hiring Hall; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Those are people that come in whether seasonal or short term, but they are there to meet a variety of non-permanent needs; right?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is true.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it that that mechanism allows you - that is Hydro One - certain advantages, in the sense of you're not incurring permanent staff obligations; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  It's very much an efficiency tool for us, that is correct.  They are not on regular staff.  They're not on our pension and benefit programs.

They can be stood off or laid off in a very inefficient -- sorry, in a very efficient and inexpensive way, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Another type of non-regular employee that you have are your -- are your construction forces?

MR. MCDONELL:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  These are people that are hired directly by Hydro One when Hydro One is sort of acting as its own general contractor in terms of doing some kind of construction program?

MR. MCDONELL:  There's some direct hires, and also through construction hiring halls.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.  In any event, however they arrive at your door, they wind up directly on Hydro One's payroll?

MR. MCDONELL:  True, but they also have this same sort of economic or compensation model as the PWU Hiring Hall has, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  They can come and go on a relatively fluid basis.  They're not permanently on your payroll.  They're there as long as they're there?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct.  I just also want to emphasize that those same staff don't enjoy our pension and benefit programs, as well, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Just to be clear about this, when we talk about your capital budget on capital programs, in terms of the actual labour component that is built into those capital projects, broadly speaking, those tend not to be people who are members of my client, the Power Workers' Union.  Those tend to be construction -- building trades folks and other -- other types of employees, non-permanent employees, but not PWU-represented ones?

MR. MCDONELL:  Through various jurisdiction protocols we have, yes.  The CUSW tend to do the transmission work, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But if we're looking at the labour component on your capital projects, a relatively small proportion of that is in any way attributable to my client's folks; fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  I don't know what the percentages are, but I think I would agree with you.

MR. STEPHENSON:  A lot smaller than overall?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Stephenson, I am just going to ask you to pause there.  We have allowed you to go on for quite some time.  I am just concerned that you focus your questions in areas that are not already in the prefiled.  I think many of the answers that we've received are in the prefiled material.  If you want to take the witnesses beyond that in some sort of way, that may be helpful, but I am going to ask you, in the interests of time...

MR. STEPHENSON:  I will be much quicker.  I am almost done.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. STEPHENSON:  The last category is, simply, you have a whole bunch of people that work at -- do work for Hydro One that aren't employed by Hydro One, at all, in the sense that they're employed by contractors?

MR. MCDONELL:  Okay, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  We have heard from a prior panel about certain turnkey projects, and the folks that do that work aren't employed by Hydro One, at all, and don't appear in Hydro One's compensation rolls, at all?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  One of the issues that we heard about earlier was certain benchmarking studies and compensation studies, and so forth.

In terms of those -- dealing with comparables and in terms of compensation costs, I take it that one of -- to the extent we are looking for an apples-to-apples comparison, one of the difficulties, when you are comparing as between utilities, is it is difficult to know what proportion of work is being done through contracting out, because when contracting out is done, those numbers don't appear as compensation numbers, at all; right?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is true.  If you're referring to the Mercer study, that was not one of the variables that was studied.  Contracting out was not part of the study.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  So we just don't really know, in Mercer -- if somebody does a lot more contracting out, their compensation numbers will be, relatively speaking, lower and, if they do very little, their compensation numbers are going to be higher?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's the exact reason why it was not included; that's right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me just deal with the issue of comparators.  It is my last point, and that is this:  One way of dealing with comparators, which is any benchmarking study -- I take it the identification of good comparators is really a fundamental aspect of any benchmarking exercise; fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And one way of doing that is to look at similar kinds of businesses, but another way of doing that - and something that you have actually done - is to look at the Hydro One -- the various Hydro One successor corps.

If I could just ask you to take a look at Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 41, this is an answer to a Board Staff interrogatory.

MR. MCDONELL:  I have that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  At the second and third pages of that interrogatory response there are a couple of charts; do you see those?

MR. MCDONELL:  I do.  Now, are you looking at the updated charts or the -- it doesn't matter?

MR. STEPHENSON:  It actually doesn't matter for my purposes, because I am not relying on the specific numbers.

But the first chart is a comparison of various Power Workers' Union-represented positions as between Hydro One and other Ontario Hydro successors; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I take it what you did was identify four classifications that each of these entities actually continue to employ.

You know, you didn't pick regional maintainer lines, because OPG doesn't have any?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.  And the other reason why we selected these was because, when we were one company at Ontario Hydro, these classifications were there.  They're pretty much equal.  So what we were trying to show is how, over time, those -- those classifications, which were once paid very similar, have changed over time.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I would suggest to you that there's some value in using these companies as comparators, because one thing -- there's a number of things they share, but one of them is the legacy; correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Another thing that they share is, insofar as they are regulated by this Board, they're under a common regulatory scheme by a common regulator; fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  With the exception of the Bruce.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am going to get to that in a minute.

One of the things that people look at in terms of comparing Hydro One or regulated entities, generally, is to see how they compare against non-regulated competitive companies, and Bruce Power is one of them.  You would agree with that?

MR. MCDONELL:  I understand that, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Just to see these percentage change numbers, I mean, the bottom line is Hydro One is doing pretty well; is that fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  Thank you, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And, I mean, do you have -- I mean, the numbers speak for themselves, in the sense that you are doing better, relatively speaking, it looks like, compared to OPG and Bruce, and more or less the same as the IESO; not quite as good, but more or less the same.  Fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  I just looked -- yes, I think that is a fair statement.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Do you have an explanation for it?

MR. MCDONELL:  Well, I don't work for either OPG or Bruce Power, but I do understand that since we have broken up, those two companies have provided compensation in ways that we haven't.  They have instituted different types of skills broadening and various types of incentive programs that we have not adopted at Hydro One.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Is it fair to say that at least in terms of some substantial power sector companies in Ontario that have -- faced with the same legacy as you have faced, over the past nine-year period you have done at least as well or better than those comparators; fair?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  I don't want to be modest.  I would say, yes, we have done very well, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  So for what it is worth, if you look over to the next page, you have The Society of Energy Professionals numbers, and although it appears that the Society hasn't done as well as my clients at the other places, you are -- more or less you're all the same, fair?  You know, within a percentage point or two, in terms of the growth over time.

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, that's fair to say.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And is it fair, in terms of -- if the Board is looking for comparators, maybe for different reasons these comparators are at least as relevant as whatever is in the Mercer study.  I mean, I appreciate the Mercer study is dealing with transmission companies, and so they're like in that sense.  But they lack certain like elements that these companies have with you.


MR. MCDONELL:  Oh, we were directed by the previous Board to have a robust, broad look at compensation in the utility sector and other regulated industries, and that's why we completed that study.


I suppose you could look at, if you really want to have a small market, these companies would be very good to compare to as well, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Mr. McDonell.  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


Thank you.  Next on the list is the Society.  You are not Mr. Andrew, but -- or Mr. Lord.

MR. HAYES:  No.  I am Jim Hayes, and I represent the Society today.  I actually just have one question.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Go ahead, please.
Cross-examination by Mr. Hayes:


MR. HAYES:  And without in any way duplicating anything that Mr. Stephenson just did, with respect to the costs of labour with the Society, am I correct in saying that the Society collective agreement is settled now until March of 2013?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.


MR. HAYES:  So those costs are in place for several years now, obviously.

MR. MCDONELL:  We have a collective agreement that can't be altered; that's correct.

MR. HAYES:  Thank you, sir.  That's my only question.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

Mr. Balogh, are you ready to go ahead?


MR. BALOGH:  Yes, ma'am.

Cross-examination by Mr. Balogh:


MR. BALOGH:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Lewis Balogh, and I'm --

THE REPORTER:  Microphone, please.

MR. BALOGH:  -- operator of a small business.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Wait until you have it on, Mr. Balogh.  Wait 'til the microphone is on, and sit down and start your questions.  Thank you.


MR. BALOGH:  Again, my name is Lewis Balogh, and I am a small-business operator.  And with the permission of the Panel, I would like to ask a question which generated a fair amount of discussion earlier with respect to Hydro One's evaluation of risks and how they apply to a number of activities that Hydro One actually carries out in its conduct of doing business.


MS. CHAPLIN:  If they're questions that go beyond what was covered before.  We don't want you to repeat --

MR. BALOGH:  It is, it is, very much so.  That's why I'm asking them.


Most of the risks, from what I got from the panel, were dealing with very general and qualitative terms instead of quantitative terms.  When I look at risk, I look at it in terms of numbers, as to what risk I am taking that a certain event will either occur or not occur.  And it is generally expressed in terms of probabilities, in percentages.  It could be anywhere from .1 to -- one to a million.


I could not hear any evidence that this kind of an exercise is being done by Hydro One.  Am I incorrect in that, sir?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, you are incorrect, Mr. Balogh.  That is getting down to the next level of detail.  But we do have -- in some areas, you are correct.  There are qualitative measures of risk.  One of those would be in terms of brand and reputation.  When you look a look at brand and reputation, you are taking a look at -- one of the measures would be negative impact reported in the local press, the provincial press, or the national press, and the severity of those.  So that is an example of a qualitative one.


However, when we take a look at reliability, when we take a look at financial measures, we have very specific quantitative measures of risk.  And so we say, if this -- if we do -- don't do this work, the results on reliability, transmission reliability, frequency, or duration would be this type of impact.  We actually -- that is part of the risk process.  We get very specific.

MR. BALOGH:  Assuming that is the rate then, sir, where would these be set out in the pre-filed evidence?  Anywhere?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, that level of detail wasn't set out in the evidence.  It has been generally described in the exhibits on investment prioritization.


MR. BALOGH:  It is reasonable to say that in order to evaluate whether or not you should go forward with a certain project, to take a look at what kind of a risk you are facing, if you didn't do it, that would be expressed in numbers, dollars, whatever?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we can do that.  We, as I said, look across all of the seven business values, and one of those is financial.  So we do financial net-present-value calculations that are part of the impact.  We look at reliability, to the extent that the project is being done to improve reliability.  We take a look at the residual risk of not spending the money and not doing that work.  And there are studies that back that up that are brought by the planners to the discussions.


MR. BALOGH:  And those studies are carried out with respect to any major project that you may or may not undertake, right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. BALOGH:  Okay.  Now, in the same vein, would you be prepared to say what is the level of acceptable risk set out in policies and procedures of Hydro One?  Is there such a number available?  Because you are saying that -- you made several references to acceptable level of risk.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BALOGH:  I would like to know just what they may be.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  The way we express acceptable level of risk is -- let me just take you to -- sorry, just one second, please, sir.

If I could take you, sir, to Exhibit A-14-5, page 7.  It is table 2.  It's the business value, evaluation matrix.

MR. BALOGH:  Exhibit A?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  A-14-5, page 7.


MR. BALOGH:  Page 7.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Table 2, the business evaluation matrix.  It has "probability" down one side of the scale, and "impact" across the other side.


MR. BALOGH:  Excuse me, did you say table 7?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Table 2.


MR. BALOGH:  Table 2.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, table 2 on page 7.


MR. BALOGH:  Oh, yes.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Okay.  Now, what we do, sir, to answer your question, is, we do have specific numbers that represent what we call a reasonable risk.  But let me explain what those numbers are.


What we do is, we literally populate this table for each business value with a -- now, I have to get into technical risk-evaluation terms -- using a logarithmic scale, such that there is a number of, I believe it is 500 up in the top right-hand corner for the worst case, and then very likely in a number of, I think it is 1 in the bottom left-hand corner for minor and remote.


And so what we do for each one of these business values is, we have these risk numbers that are in this table, which is, like I say, a logarithmic scale, which is -- just applied the probability to the impacts across the top.


And what we say for reasonable risk -- so it's just -- sorry, let me step back.  One point.  If you were to take a look at where is the minimum level, the minimum level, in terms of this risk target, would take you just outside of that red box.

So if you take a look at the one, two, three, four, five, depending on how you count or whether you count that one that touches at the edge, the minimum level of expenditures would take you out to that point in the risk evaluation.


A reasonable level of risk is -- it would be easier to draw -- is a bit of a swath around the kind of moderate band.  So it is the four or five boxes, and then they have associated numbers with them through that moderate band.


And we have done a fair bit of discussion with the chief risk officer and the experts in his areas and the system planners, such that there is a very good understanding that that reasonable band, which -- think of it as running down the middle of those graphs like this -- represents where ideally they should be planning their work for.

So when they plan the minimum level, they're just outside the red zone.  When they spend more money, they decrease the risk and they move to the bottom left-hand quadrant.

MR. BALOGH:  So you would have a 95 percent confidence level, when you do this, to say those are the numbers which are acceptable; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BALOGH:  Okay, thank you.

Well, then just for argument's sake, -- I don't mean to argue, but if, for instance, the budget, OM&A budget, was reduced by, say, 12 percent, from 435.2 million to $383 million, which was almost the same as it was in previous years, how would this affect the risk level?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  In a broad sense, the overall residual risks that the company would be faced, and therefore our customers would be facing, would go up significantly.

And our system allows us to articulate that generally -- in a general sense and in a specific sense to the senior management team, because eventually we would get to the point -- and this is the exercise that we talked about in the other exhibit, where we had the Sunnybrook 1 level of the 1.5 billion, and then brought it down.

You know, when we brought it down, we were saying, We're going to move that out and we're going to move that out, and because we have done this assessment on each individual investment driver, we're saying, This is the type of risk that we now think is added into your overall profile.

So, conceptually, you would add up all of the risks across all of the various types of projects and say that bundle now represents the company's risk profile.

In a generic sense, that's what you do, but you do it very specifically by driver.

MR. BALOGH:  My final question on this topic is this:  Would this probability be for each and every one year, or it's a combined probability?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We look at the probability over a five-year period, so you are -- they're instructed to take a look, at the end of five years, where would we be.

MR. BALOGH:  So it is not for a project's life, but it is for a set time period, which is five years, in your case?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it is.

MR. BALOGH:  Okay, thank you very much.  That was my only question about those, because it sort of tweaked me, because this is the first I heard that you took this approach.

My prepared questions were really on productivity and the wage issue, which was in fact generated by the Board's decision with reasons, which was I think published on August 16th, 2007, and the reason for it was, and I read from page 13 of the decision:
"The Board is particularly concerned about the apparently high labour rates.  In this respect, the Board expects Hydro One to identify what steps the company has taken or will take to reduce these labour rates."

And I understand - and some of the intervenors made reference to this - that in order to comply with this, Hydro One hired two consulting firms.  One was Mercer Wyman, which predominantly focussed on the wages themselves, and First Quartile, which in fact zeroed-in on productivity.

Since my learned counsel over there - not mine, but someone else's - dealt quite extensively with Mercer Wyman, I am going to be very brief, because the time is moving on, anyway, and I have a number of questions.

And the question is that there was a statement made that there were great strides made by Hydro One that these labour costs were in fact being reduced, in the process of being reduced.

When I read that very report, which was I think tabled September 23rd, 2007, the Wyman, it did say a number of things. One of them was that even though the earnings of Hydro One were below the average earnings of comparable companies, which I think there were 13 of them, on table 2 of this report shows that the earnings of Hydro One was 4.655 billion versus the average of 5.234 million -- billion, pardon me; yet the average wages of the employee in Hydro One were 21 percent higher, which was already referred to by someone.


But the conclusion I come to, to me, it doesn't sound like any credible proof that, in fact, Hydro One is ahead of the game in a comparison.  Am I correct or wrong in this?

MR. MCDONELL:  No.  I think you might be incorrect.  Excuse me, I think I forgot your first point that you were making.  It was something about the comparators.

MR. BALOGH:  The which?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think you talked about where Hydro One is amongst the comparators.  Maybe I missed your question.

MR. BALOGH:  I am looking at table 2 on page 11 of --

MR. MCDONELL:  This is a listing of the comparators that were used in the benchmarking study.  Sorry, I now realize the one thing I wanted to say where I think you might have been a little bit mistaken.  I think you referenced a 21 percent --

MR. BALOGH:  It is.

MR. MCDONELL:  -- above market.

MR. BALOGH:  Yes.

MR. MCDONELL:  That was only specifically for the PWU.  On an overall average basis it was 17 percent, not 21.

MR. BALOGH:  Yes.  And 122 of these employees, their salaries were over 40 percent higher than the companies that this comparison was made with, okay?

So I don't know -- since the direction was given to Hydro One to try to reduce the cost of labour, to me, I don't think this is really what I would call supporting evidence.

MR. MCDONELL:  Perhaps I can try to help you.  The one thing that you have to keep in mind is that over 90 percent of our staff are unionized.  And in a unionized environment, we have collective agreements that we negotiate, and they are contractual and we can't change them until we get to collective bargaining.

If you've ever been involved in labour negotiations, it is very difficult to alter wages and benefits for existing employees.  We understand how difficult that is.  So our strategy has been -- in particular with the PWU, has been to find other ways to reduce costs and increase productivity.

That was my reference to a number of charts in our prefiled evidence where we show that we believe we have a very strong track record of finding ways -- other ways to reduce costs and increase productivity through collective bargaining, rather than reducing wages and benefits.

Having said that, we have had some success certainly in that area, as well, and we have -- we have made significant changes to the MCP compensation and benefits.

We have negotiated with the Society of Energy Professionals a less expensive pension plan.  In the recent collective bargaining with the Society, we are able to negotiate a five-year collective agreement with wage schedules that are generally lower than they were previously.


So we have had quite a bit of success.

MR. BALOGH:  Yes.  Excuse me.  Is there a plan initiated or thought of in your annual business plan to take some kind of an effort or measure to -- in order to comply with the Board's direction to reduce these rates?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MCDONELL:  Perhaps I will give a first level answer, and then pass it over to Mr. Van Dusen.

One of the corporate cultures, if you will, at Hydro One is one of continuous improvement.  In every department throughout Hydro One, we're always looking at ways to reduce costs.  That's pretty much ingrained in the culture.

One example we have already talked about today was an initiative that we are reducing our MCP compensation to 1.5 percent for 2005.  Mr. Van Dusen might be able to speak to a number of productivity achievements that we have made over the years as well.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Mr. Balogh, if I could bring your attention to Exhibit A-16-1.

MR. BALOGH:  Exhibit A?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  A-16-1.  This was the exhibit we filed on cost efficiencies and productivity.

And taking you to page 10 of that, just to further elaborate on Mr. McDonell's point, we have established at Hydro One a corporate productivity indicator.


MR. BALOGH:  Yes.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We have had productivity indicators across the business before, but the board of directors now, in its continuing challenge to management for greater efficiencies and productivities, has now included in the corporate scorecard a productivity measure.  This is the example from 2008.  I can guarantee you it continues in 2009, and there is great focus on productivity from that point of view.

So this describes the specific measures we had with respect to 2008.  But once again, this is just at the high level, the corporate level.  There are other measures that are built into the performance score cards down through the lines of businesses.

MR. BALOGH:  Yes, sir.  I was going to get into productivity.  I was still on the labour costs.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. BALOGH:  And I consider it two different matters.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Very good.

MR. BALOGH:  Agreed?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. BALOGH:  Thank you.

In this current unpleasant economic environment, most of us are asked to do more with less.  And looking at the thing, there is going to be not only replacement of those workers who may or may not retire, but over and above there is going to be an increase in staff level of Hydro One, despite the uncertain economic climate which currently we are experiencing and likely will experience for the next two years.


Would this be non-prudent, to perhaps look into the future and see if there's an absolute necessity to raise the staff level of Hydro One in order to do with the work that you have on the table?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I will take a first attempt at a response, sir, at a high level, and then leave it to Mr. McDonell to deal with some of the details.

Your concerns are valid, and your concerns are taken very seriously by Hydro One.  As part of the business planning process, a detailed examination of staff levels across all the lines of businesses is done.  They're asked to report their staff levels across various -- at various levels, different levels of staff, different types of positions, identify potential retirements and attrition, identify their needs in terms of training, and that information is scrutinized at a very great level of detail, all the way up to the executive committee of Hydro One.

So at a high level, staff planning and the needs and the justification is done in a fair bit of detail.  So at a high level, it is part of the annual process.  And I don't know if Mr. McDonell has anything else to add.

MR. MCDONELL:  Just maybe a couple comments.  Perhaps we're fortunate to be in a position that we'll be able to assist the Ontario economy by hiring employees into the organization where others may be struggling.  I think that is certainly true.

MR. BALOGH:  Thank you.  Well, my final question on this particular labour issue is this:  Supposing that -- if I can recall from memory, it's close to $330 million which is the cost of labour, 329 million-some.  Actually, I have it in here somewhere.  I will find it.


As I understand from the evidence, Hydro One has 5,209 employees, and the total cost -- which includes both regular, part-time, and casual workers.  And the total cost of labour is 392 million-900-and -- well, three-hundred-and-ninety-two-nine-hundred-and-twenty-seven million dollars.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Where exactly are you finding that figure, sir?


MR. BALOGH:  It's in the pre-filed evidence.


MR. MCDONELL:  Perhaps I can assist you.  Would you be looking at Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, table 3?

MR. BALOGH:  I presume so, but I've got my papers scattered all over the place here, so...

MR. ROGERS:  What are the numbers?  Maybe that's not so important, as long as they're close.


MR. MCDONELL:  For 2008, total wages was -- was projected to be $569 million.  Is that what you're referring to?


MR. BALOGH:  Well, no, I am just looking at the hourly workers, which was 329 million plus change.


MR. MCDONELL:  Okay.  I think perhaps what you're looking at is an interrogatory response to -- of Board.

MR. BALOGH:  Yes.

MR. MCDONELL:  And that is tab I, schedule 19, I believe it is.


MR. BALOGH:  Yes.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I-1-19.


MR. BALOGH:  And I guess when we take the total amount and divide it by the number of employees, and including the part-timers and the casual workers, it still works out to be $78,585 per year.


Now, if we went on the assumption that it could be reduced by 20 percent, on account of a number of things, either by not replacing those who retire or on account of the demand on providing extra power, it is feasible, it would actually result in an almost 79 million -- 78-and-a-half million dollars reduction from the overall costs.


My question is this:  Is it doable?  And if it was done, how it would affect two things.  One, how would this affect the risk level about various projects, individually or overall.  Or is this something that we could live with?


MR. MCDONELL:  Maybe I will give a first-level response.  I mean, I don't think that is doable.  I don't think we would be living up to our responsibilities, being the transmitter and the largest distributor in the province, if we did not get prepared for the day for which a number of our staff are going to be retiring.


I had mentioned before we almost have a perfect storm happening right now, where we have a very significant demographic challenge.  We are in a very tight labour market for the staff that we need to be able to hire.

So we do have some responsibilities to make sure that we do hire and be able to attract the staff that we need to work at Hydro One.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  To answer the second part of your question, Mr. Balogh, when we talk about our work-based approach to planning, that is exactly it.  We don't -- we first look at what activities we need to undertake, what transformer stations need to be refurbished, what lines need to be built, what infrastructure needs to be put in place.


Then we take a look at what type of resources, material, human resources, labour resources, need to be brought to bear.

So in terms of how we would deal with that, if anyone came to us and said, You now have 20 percent less staff, we would go back to our work and take a look at which is the work that would cause us the most grief -- the least grief, excuse me, that could be either deferred or dropped or moved, and we would take a look then at that, and that's how we would deal with it.


MR. BALOGH:  Well, then coming back to the study that was done by First Quartile Consulting Company, it was -- which was evaluating the effectiveness and productivity of Hydro One staff, and that company tabled its report on September 19th, 2008, which is in Exhibit A, tab 15, schedule 2.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, I have that.


MR. BALOGH:  Yes.  And there are a number of statements in that report that were made that doesn't seem to underpin -- was a great deal of productivity improvement with -- well, let me quote you a couple of them.

One of them, "The company", it means Hydro One:
"...have the need for continued efforts to develop workforce productivity measurements and management approaches."

That is one of them.  Also on page 17, the very same program titled "Analysis and Reporting", it states:

"Canadian companies tended to be less and less cost efficient over a three-year period."

And they did not exclude Hydro One.

Finally, on page 13, a section titled "Workforce Productivity Metrics", the report lists 13 productivity metrics they recommended to Hydro One for evaluating and tracking the productivity of its workforce, and these were:  crew productivity time, earned hours over actual hours, percent paid for non-working time, it says OCIA, but it's American, meaning WSIB - I know what they meant -- lost time index, average crew size for a benchmark job, supervisory support, spend control, wage differential for benchmark job classification, percent of time.  The wrong skill level is used in a benchmark job, percent of time crews improperly staffed for an assignment, time lost to inclement weather, percentage of time crew still in the yard 30 minutes after starting, should be on the road, percent of time in the yard early, return before the time is finished, and percentage of time jobs ready when a crew arrived.

So these -- I am curious.  How many of these have been adopted?  How many of these are scheduled to be implemented, and when?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can help you.  The First Quartile Group wasn't actually recommending to Hydro One to adopt these measures.  What they were saying is, We are going to take this list of what we see as workforce productivity metrics, based on our experience, and we're going to go out to all of these companies and we're going to ask them how they track and how they're doing.

What they came back and told us, on page 19, was that, We've looked at this broad range of metrics that there could be productivity metrics, and, guess what?  There's not many companies that are using these types of things.

So Hydro One only uses a few of these metrics internally, but Hydro One has a long list of other metrics.  Some of those are described in our cost efficiency exhibit, but we in a past transmission proceedings actually have presented to this Board other specific metrics we measure internally.

So this was looking at productivity measures that could be benchmarkable.  Once again, they were trying to benchmark across a large realm of organizations.  We have many productivity measurements that are internal; i.e., we track year over year, How are we doing against our own performance?

So it was disappointing to us, I can assure you, that there wasn't much information to compare, and that is one of the problems that people are finding in terms of productivity metrics.  There isn't a common set used in the industry.

Certainly we're doing a lot of work.  We're tracking a lot of items.  We filed a fair bit of material with this Board.  And we are struggling ourselves.  We must admit we're struggling ourselves to come up with very effective productivity measures.

It is not an exact science, and the experts are telling us the same.

MR. BALOGH:  Excuse me.  Well, reading the prefiled evidence on page 11 of Exhibit A, tab 16, schedule 1, Hydro One does state that efforts were made to give quantitative indication of productivity, and it quotes one instance where 52.5 hours per kilometre of forestry clearing is done.

Unfortunately, it is inconclusive.  Is this figure per worker?  Is it an average time?  Is that for a crew, and, if it is for a crew, what size it is, and how much does it mean in terms of dollars, or does it -- is it net hours?  Once they get there, how much does it take, or does it include travelling time?

So there are all kinds of questions that should be answered in order to make this number meaningful.  Am I -- would you agree with that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Could you take me to the exact reference so I could see the context of the number, please, sir?

MR. ROGERS:  What's the reference?

MR. BALOGH:  It is Exhibit A, tab 16, schedule 1.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  What page are you looking at?

MR. ROGERS:  What page?  There's 13 pages.

MR. BALOGH:  I think it's...

MR. ROGERS:  I think it is page 11.  I think we found it.  Page 11, try that.  Line 1 and following, I think, on page 11.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Okay, yes.  I do have that.  Sorry, I apologize, sir.  Now I do see that.

So if you want, I do have the details of that metric and how it is used and why we use it and why we --

MR. BALOGH:  That would be very helpful, sir.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Okay.  So what we're saying, generally speaking, the way to look at this measure is the fewer hours it takes to clear a kilometre of forestry, the better -- in theory, the more efficiently you are working.  So it is an indication.

So what we do is we had established a base line in terms of we want to take a certain number of hours this year to clear a kilometre of line, and then next year when we do this type of clearing we want to take fewer hours to clear that kilometre of line.

What we do is we try to establish, What is a reasonable stretch target for these crews to achieve, and what are going to be the measures they're going to do to achieve it?  What techniques are they going to employ to do that?


This is one of the areas where we use our study of best practice and the information we gather through the types of studies we do, and we take it to these people and we say, Is there anything here that you can learn from that will help you do this work more efficiently?

So that's just one measure, but there are many measures like that.  But that's what that one measure is all about.  It is, How do we do it faster?

MR. BALOGH:  Oh, yes, I understand it would be the improvement.  Again, you have to have a base line --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BALOGH:  -- to would serve as a comparison so you can say --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BALOGH:  -- year over year what improvement, if any, we are able to achieve.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. BALOGH:  Right now, this one doesn't do it?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Well, I can tell you, sir, this particular thing at the corporate level was instituted just in 2008.  I can tell you that the target for that was 52.5 hours, and we did not reach that target.  We were a little bit over that target.  We were 54.8 hours.  And that information is extremely instructive to the company.

What is it that we did or, in this case, didn't do as well as we thought we were going to do?  How do we learn from it?  How do we improve?  What can we do to catch up?


When you start measuring these types of things, it gives you that ability to make that judgment and to employ that information in bettering the operations.

So I take your point that the more we're measuring the type of productivity items, the more and at the deeper level, the better understanding you have of your operations and you strife to improve them, sir.

MR. BALOGH:  You have to know where you spend your monies.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Balogh, how much longer do you expect to be?  I am just looking at the time and it's been quite a while since we have had a break and the court reporter --

MR. BALOGH:  I could carry on afterwards.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I am asking you how much longer you expect to be.

MR. BALOGH:  I would say about 15 or 20 more minutes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  That is substantially longer than your estimate, so we will take a very brief break, ten minutes.  I guess I would encourage you to try and narrow so we stick to the questions, and we can get the questions and the answers, so that we can complete this panel today.

MR. BALOGH:  Yes, ma'am.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  We will break for ten minutes.

--- Recess taken at 3:53 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 4:13 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.


Mr. Balogh, if you are ready to continue.


MR. BALOGH:  Yes, ma'am.


During the session with panel 1, there was a discussion about outsourcing, but the matter I was trying to discuss was referred to panel 3.  Therefore, I will go on and say what it was about.


As the company does a substantial amount of outsourcing, and I thought that perhaps outsourcing could be used as some way of determining productivity, and I am going to set it out how I mean that.


Hydro One is usually called tender for certain projects; correct?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BALOGH:  Okay.  And as a rule the contract is awarded to -- almost always to the lowest bidder.  Not necessarily, but most of the time.  Is that right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally it's a multi-phase criteria.  Cost is one of the key contributors, and it is usually heavily weighted, yes.

MR. BALOGH:  By and large, the successful bidder is going to be one who has got the lowest...

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally speaking, but there is several criteria, other than just cost.

MR. BALOGH:  And if we assume that that is the case, then usually the lowest bid is the lowest, because the unit prices for labour and material are the lowest.  Am I saying something which is correct?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I will accept that, yes, sir.

MR. BALOGH:  Yes.  Okay.  Well, then is it not possible that by comparing a successful bidder's labour force, what he is willing to do for how much, could that be used as some kind of a benchmark to establish for similar work done by own workforce to use as a benchmark, which so far I don't understand we have.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, you are correct.  In some cases you can take a look at work that you would otherwise do yourself, but for whatever reason, say a manpower shortage, you outsource the work.  And then you can take a look at the outsource costs and compare it to what you would do internally and use that as a bit of a benchmark.  And actually, that is one of the exercises that we do in the organization, and we have done that.


And to be honest, I don't have the statistics with me, but we have found a fairly mixed bag, that there is some cases where, yes, we are getting work done, probably cheaper than we can do it ourselves, and in other cases we're paying more than we could do it ourselves, but because we need to achieve the work, we need to move forward and get that work done.

But you are correct, sir, that is one of the other aspects of benchmarking that can be very helpful.

MR. BALOGH:  And when you compare costs, labour cost, would this include everything:  benefits, pension, and all that?  Or is it a separate issue?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I honestly can't say.  I am not really sure what would be included in the bid from the other companies.  Sometimes the bid is very specific, in that they're giving us a Class A engineer at $50 an hour or whatever.  And sometimes we know what's embedded in the $50 an hour they're quoting to us and sometimes we don't.  So I can't say unequivocally that we know that.

MR. BALOGH:  No, I am talking about Hydro One's cost, not --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Oh, I'm sorry.

MR. BALOGH:  -- Hydro One's cost.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Oh, certainly, sir.  We would know our cost in detail, yes.

MR. BALOGH:  So that when you compare cost, then the cost of labour parts of any contract --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Right --

MR. BALOGH:  -- when you compare it, that would include Hydro One's cost labour and all benefits, right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  To the extent that we know what we're comparing to, we would try to make sure the comparison was equal.  So, I mean --

MR. BALOGH:  You end up comparing apples with apples rather than apples and pineapples.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  You always try to do that when you do benchmarking.  It's sometimes very difficult to do, but you are trying to achieve that, yes, sir.

MR. BALOGH:  So am I to understand this is being done on an ongoing basis, or just, it's in the process of being done?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Subject to check.  I believe for at least the last couple of years we've been doing this on an ongoing basis.  We've been actually -- where possible, where it's reasonable to do.  I mean, it's not every outsource piece of work we do in benchmarking versus the internal, but in some the bigger stuff what we do -- to my knowledge, we've done some internal benchmarking on that, just -- internal -- I shouldn't say benchmarking.  It implies there is a study, an internal comparison:  Here's the quote.  This is the quote we're accepting.  This is what they're paying the guys.  This is what we're paying the guys.  Hmm, what does it tell us?


So I don't want to give the impression there is a giant study in the back room that I haven't presented.  But, yes, we have been doing that for the last couple of years, to my knowledge, yes, sir.


MR. BALOGH:  Okay.  Excuse me.  My voice is dying on me.


Seeing that time is of an essence, I am going to have two more questions.  And one of them is that when you read the paper, you see all kinds of doom and gloom, including, a number of manufacturing concerns are cancelling shifts.  They're laying off workers.  They're closing doors.  And some of the members of the UAW or CAW are on the verge of renegotiating contracts, for a simple reason that, unless they did, the viability of a company is at stake.


Would that be impertinent of me to say that perhaps, in view of these things, when it comes to negotiating the next contract with the members of the various unions, could this not be used as some kind of an argument or a point to make -- make their negotiating process a little bit more palatable to -- not only to Hydro One, but to us, who pay the electricity rates.


MR. MCDONELL:  Well, perhaps we are comparing apples to oranges in that situation.  Hydro One is not on the brink of bankruptcy like GM might be.  But I can tell you, as being a member of a number of bargaining sessions, that every year where we get our terms of reference, we are always looking for ways to reduce costs and increase productivity through collective bargaining.


MR. BALOGH:  No, I didn't mean to say that Hydro One is in any kind of financial difficulty.  No, don't misunderstand.  What I meant to say was that this could be almost unheard of five years ago, but now, since the climate has changed, this could be an approach that could be used, because it's done in other companies, not just Hydro One.  That's what I meant to say.


MR. MCDONELL:  Perhaps premature.  We're a couple of years away from bargaining with our bargaining agents, but we will assess the situation as we approach collective bargaining.


MR. BALOGH:  Well, I thank you very much.  And I decided not to ask the rest of my 50 questions.


Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Balogh.


Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  And good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.  I am going to start with a few questions that arise out of the cross-examination you just had with Mr. Stephenson.


And let me start with this.  I understand you're having what you describe as significant pressures with respect to staffing and compensation, and I can't recall if it was him or you who said it, but one of you said there was a perfect storm, and that was agreed?  Have I got that right, Mr. McDonell?


MR. MCDONELL:  I think I might have used the word "perfect storm".

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You are in agreement on that point, I think.


And then you set about to enumerate the details that give rise to this perfect storm.  And the first thing you mentioned was the Green Energy Act; is that right?


MR. MCDONELL:  I don't think I raised the Green Energy Act.  I think that was Mr. Van Dusen --

MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.  Maybe it was Mr. Stephenson.  Mr. Stephenson mentioned the Green Energy Act?


MR. MCDONELL:  He did.

MR. MILLAR:  And you agreed that that was one of the issues that was made, increasing demand for the workforce?


MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  First, you can confirm for me that obviously the Green Energy Act was tabled a couple of days ago?


MR. MCDONELL:  I do understand that.  I haven't seen it, but I do understand that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And it is certainly not law yet?


MR. MCDONELL:  Um...

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we understand that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I am not sure if any of you were here on the first day of the hearing, but your counsel, in fact, addressed the Green Energy Act.  Were either of you around -- or any of you around to hear that?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I've read the transcript.  I am familiar with what got said on day one.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I would just like to bring us back there.  On page 5 of the transcript for day 1, starting at line 24, Mr. Rogers is addressing the Green Energy Act, and he says that:
"Although the expansion of the transmission system will probably be much greater than currently being requested here today, most of the incremental in-service dates associated with green energy projects will not occur until 2011 and beyond."

And if you flip over the next page, top of page 6:
"Therefore, the expanded capital program which is expected will not have a major effect on rates during the test period of 2009 and 2010."

Do you see that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you agree with your counsel that at least for the test years, the Green Energy Act is unlikely to have a major impact?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  To the best of our understanding at this point in time, I agree with him, yes, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  So the Green Energy Act may lead to increased demand down the road, but it is not relevant for the test years?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Once again, we have just seen it.  It is new.  It is our understanding it most likely will not have an impact, but we are still assessing it, yes, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  The next thing I heard Mr. Stephenson mention, and I think you agreed with, was the demographics issue, and that is the issue that many of the members of your workforce are getting older and closer to retirement; is that correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you agree with me -- I've been doing rate cases for about four years, and I think in pretty much every case this issue has been raised.  So would you agree with me that this may be an emerging issue, but it's certainly not a brand new issue?

MR. MCDONELL:  It's not a brand new issue.

MR. MILLAR:  It's been going on for several years now?

MR. MCDONELL:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And you have been hiring extra workers for several years now, if I am not mistaken?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  Since 2000 apprentices, and since 2004 new grads, yes.  Those are examples, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, fair enough.  And would be the same be true of your -- I don't want to call them competitors, but other bodies, other organizations that hire the same types of workers that you hire?  Would they be experiencing similar pressures?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is my understanding, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And so this would also be -- this demographics issue you would have in common with the organizations that served as benchmarks in the Mercer study; would that be fair to say?

MR. MCDONELL:  Just looking at the list of companies, I don't know that them intimately, but I can see a couple I would suggest would be true, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  So this issue is not unique to Hydro One?

MR. MCDONELL:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

You then discussed the economic situation, and I think I heard you say that although there might be lower load demand, that this does not lead to any reduced work or any savings in labour costs.  Did I hear you correctly there?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think my reference would have been to the fact that if there's more labour out there, I think Mr. Stephenson was alluding to the fact more labour usually equates to cheaper labour, and my response to that would be, well, we have collective agreements that we're committed to over the test period, so that would really not help us reduce our labour costs.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I will come back to that in a minute.  I thought I heard a different point, and maybe I just misheard.  I thought I heard one of you say that although the load forecast will likely go down, that in and of itself will not reduce any of your labour costs?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I believe I was the person who responded to the question.  I think what I said is, over the short term, a short-term reduction in the load forecast would not have a significant impact on our operations and the work we need to do.

But keep in mind, I think with a deep recession covering many, many years and had great impact on the overall load of the province and the need for the government to have generation put in place, then we're talking a very different situation.

But at this point, hopefully we don't reach that situation, but in the short term we're not anticipating any impact, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe you can help me with this, and maybe it is simply I don't understand.  I seem to recall there were several productivity benchmarks that Mercer looked at in its report?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  One of them was megawatt-hours sold, compensation per megawatt-hour sold?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  I thought I understood the reason that that was relevant was because that if your load goes down, your compensation costs will go down, as well.  Did I misunderstand that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Um...

MR. MILLAR:  There would be less maintenance costs, for example?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I certainly don't recall that, to be honest.  I stand to be corrected on a review of the transcript, but I don't recall that, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  Then maybe you can explain to me.  Why is compensation per megawatt-hour sold an important metric?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think in the study, what we were looking for and what Mercer Oliver Wyman took a look at was they tried to take a look at a broad range of measures to try to capture some sort of normalizing factor that would allow you to get a sense of the relative compensations for certain type of activity.

So the general premise of that measure is it takes you more people to deliver more megawatts.  However, if you are very efficient -- sorry, it takes you more costs, more pay, more salary to deliver a certain amount of megawatts.


If you are efficient, it might be that you have less pay per the same number of megawatts.   It is trying to get at that sort of relationship.  It is a broad measure of productivity.

In theory, two companies, one which has lower compensation for the same kilometres -- megawatts-hours delivered, one could possibly say they're obviously more productive because they're able to do the same with less pay.

MR. MILLAR:  Isn't the flip side of the coin, then, if you have less megawatt-hours going through, then you should have less compensation costs, if that is a metric that is to mean anything?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  You are deriving a relationship that the consultant and certainly I am not trying to derive.  It is just a broad indicator.  They're not linked that way.

It may be that if you, over the long term, deliver less megawatt-hours, then maybe your compensation does go down, because you have less work to do, but that's just "maybe".

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.  Mr. Stephenson then took you to the issue of turnkey contracts and I guess, more broadly speaking, outsourcing.

Then I may have missed exactly what he said, so I don't have the transcript.  This is from my memory and the notes I was trying to take at the time.  He was trying to get at the fact that when you're looking at the work you do, you can't just look at the compensation based on the total number of employees, because you may have outsourcing, you may have other people doing work for you from these turnkey contracts, or something like that.  Did I get that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, would I be right in saying that the Mercer study looks at compensation per employee, does it not?  It doesn't just add up the total internal employee costs?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It depends on what part of the study you're talking about.  In terms of the productivity measures, they are literally just looking at total compensation.

MR. MILLAR:  Let me put it a little bit more simply.

With regard to the Mercer study, isn't it true that to the extent to which a particular company uses outsourcing is kind of irrelevant with how they get to their results of the benchmarking study where you fall on the median and whatnot?

MR. MCDONELL:  Are you referring to the compensation study or the productivity study?

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, the compensation study, the Mercer --

MR. MCDONELL:  But on the compensation study there is no -- there's no discussion, there is no data provided on contracting out.

MR. MILLAR:  Exactly.  It's not relevant to the study, is my point.

MR. MCDONELL:  Exactly.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry if I was a little unclear on getting you there.

Then there was also a point raised by Mr. Hayes of the Society of Energy Professionals, a very brief point, and I think Mr. Stephenson may have touched on it, and I think, Mr. McDonell, you just touched on it, and that is at least for the Society, their current agreement runs to 2013; is that right?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  The company, of course, is legally obligated to pay the monies due under that contract until 2013?

MR. MCDONELL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  When does the Power Workers' Union contract come up?

MR. MCDONNELL:  March 31st, 2011.

MR. MILLAR:  I am going to put this question to you.  It may be more a matter for argument, but would it be fair for me to say that although Hydro One has to pay those amounts, the Board is certainly not obligated to allow you to recover that money, if they feel the costs are unreasonable?  Is that a fair statement?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. ROGERS:  That's really a legal question and I think the answer is "yes".

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  "Yes" is good enough for me.  Thank you for that.

Okay, I think that -- there are a couple of other things, but they're already embedded in my cross.

I would like to talk about -- still on the topic of salaries.  Can I ask you to turn to Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Millar, if you could hold on for a second while we're on that point.  Mr. Rogers, when you said "yes", were you saying that, yes, the Board is obligated to allow those costs to flow through, or, yes, it is a legal matter for argument or a matter for argument?

MR. ROGERS:  I should have taken your admonition earlier today and not said anything, but what I meant to say was, yes, the Board has the authority to set the revenue requirement regardless of the contractual obligations of the company.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  I just wanted to make sure the negatives weren't -- okay, thank you.  I think that's clear now.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Ms. Chaplin.  Because that's what I understood as well, but I am glad you clarified that.

MR. MCDONELL:  C1, tab 3, schedule 2.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Page 14?  And page 14, you are discussing the -- if you flip to the page before, it is the compensation benchmarking study, which I think is the Mercer report.  But I am going to read to you something from page 14, and that's the very last sentence, which says:

"Factors that can be attributed to Hydro One's position in the compensation market would include legacy, collective agreement commitments, a need for competitive salaries, and legacy pension and benefit programs."

Do you see that?

MR. MCDONELL:  I do.


MR. MILLAR:  I will get to the legacy contracts in a moment, but when you say "a need for competitive salaries", isn't that what the Mercer study sets out, the compensation study?  Doesn't that tell you more or less what a competitive salary would be?


MR. MCDONELL:  Perhaps, because that is the peer group for which we are competing for staff, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.


I would like to talk about the legacy agreements now.  Could I ask you to turn to Board Staff IR No. 1, which is Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 41.  In fact, I think Mr. Stephenson took you here earlier.


MR. MCDONELL:  Okay.  I have it.


MR. MILLAR:  I will just wait for the Panel.

I will ask you first to turn to page 1.  And you see under "response" the -- well, line 33, it states:

"In addition, Hydro One has restrained wage escalation when compared to successor Ontario Hydro employers."

Is that correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And when we're talking about the successor companies, those were the -- all of the companies that came into existence when the old Ontario Hydro was split up; is that right?

MR. MCDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And we talk about legacy collective agreements.  You have renegotiated all of those agreements since Ontario Hydro split up; is that correct?


MR. MCDONELL:  We have so.

MR. MILLAR:  So they may be legacy, in the sense that they started with Ontario Hydro, but they are fresh contracts since then.

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes, I think I had earlier used a reference.  They sort of set the floor for which we have negotiated from since.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And when you say "a floor", I appreciate that may be how it works out.  It doesn't go without saying that it has to be a floor, right?  There's - on occasion, contracts are negotiated down.  Like, that's possible to happen.


MR. MCDONELL:  My reference was that those were legally -- we are legally required to take those contracts over to Hydro One.  And your question is, can we reduce from there?

MR. MILLAR:  No.  I guess what I'm saying is, you have renegotiated those contracts since that time.

MR. MCDONELL:  Absolutely.

MR. MILLAR:  And it would have been possible that those numbers could have gone down instead of gone up?


MR. MCDONELL:  But we have on a number of occasions made reductions in various types of benefits and conditions of employment with all our unions, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So we agree.

Okay.  If you flip to the next page, you were discussing these with Mr. Stephenson.  I see there's a -- you've got a Power Workers' Union wage scale comparisons.  And as you discussed with him, you've picked out four particular jobs, for lack of a better word, that are done by the Power Workers' Union?


MR. MCDONELL:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I take it the Power Workers have a lot more than four job categories?

MR. MCDONELL:  Oh, absolutely.  We picked these because there was some commonality when we were one company and where we are now.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And you've -- I guess you've exercised your own judgment in determining which positions you would include in this study --

MR. MCDONELL:  These were very good examples of, you know, fairly significant jobs in all our organizations.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And again, we flip to the next page, we see the Society.  You have chosen, I see, three categories; is that right?  Three job descriptions?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.  Again, there are -- there is an MP3 and MP5, but those MP2, MP4, MP6 are very heavily populated.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But again, you applied your own judgment in determining which ones to include and which ones not to include?


MR. MCDONELL:  For brevity, we went with three, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, was it just brevity, or because you thought it was the best indicator?

MR. MCDONELL:  Well, it was -- they were good indicators, because they were jobs for which all the companies do hire into, or have.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.


I provided to your counsel, and hopefully he's provided to you, copies of an exhibit that was filed in the recent OPG fees case.  It is from that case.  It is Exhibit F3, tab 4, schedule 1.  And I propose to give that an exhibit number.  K4.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K4.3:  COPY OF AN EXHIBIT FILED IN THE RECENT OPG FEES CASE, EXHIBIT NO. F3, TAB 4, SCHEDULE 1

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Zwarenstein has some copies, if --

MR. ROGERS:  People are looking at me as though -- I don't remember you giving it to me.  I'm sorry.  I didn't give it to them if you did.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I'm sorry.  But we do have copies here.  It was e-mailed out on Sunday.

MR. ROGERS:  Oh, well, then -- no, sorry --

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


[Mr. Zwarenstein distributes document]


MR. MILLAR:  I am not sure if the Panel has these or not.  You do?  Thank you.


What I will do is, I will ask my questions, and if there is a problem, we will see what we can do.


Just to provide a bit of background, this is a document that was filed on the 30th of November, 2007.  It's from the OPG fees case.  I e-mailed out the entire exhibit, but I've only reproduced the relevant section, and that's the benchmarking section.


And in fact, I only propose to bring you to a single page, and that's page 38.


MR. MCDONELL:  I have it.

MR. MILLAR:  And I do appreciate this is not your document, but I am going to ask you some questions about it, and we'll see what you can tell me.


You will see chart 13 there shows what's listed as Society general wage increases percentage.  And if you look down, you see "OPG" highlighted.  In fact, it shows the data from the years 2001 through 2007.  So it doesn't quite match the time period that you have provided in Board Staff 41, but anyway, it is close, anyways.


And according to this, for OPG, for Society positions, the cumulative increase from 2001 to 2007 is 21 percent, and for Hydro One it's 22 percent.


And obviously, we can't be having an apples-to-apples comparison here, because the numbers don't appear to match up.  But I am wondering if you can provide any comments on that, as to why you think there might be differences between these two charts?

MR. MCDONELL:  Well, my one-minute analysis of this would say that this is just a reflection of general wage increases, but I think what you see in our interrogatory response, that for -- this is the Society chart 13 -- both at OPG and Bruce Power, there are a number of bonuses and pay for various certification and retention, all of which we don't have at Hydro One.


So maybe when you compare it on a, just simply an economic increase, perhaps, but there are a whole other host of compensation items at the successor companies that we don't have.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

If we look down to chart 14, this is the comparable chart for PWU.  Again, according -- at least OPG's evidence, from 2001 to 2007 they had a cumulative general wage increase of 21 percent for their Power Workers employees.  And for Hydro One, at least according to them, the comparable figure is 24 percent.

Do you have anything to add on that, or would you have the same response?

MR. MCDONELL:  It would be pretty much the same comment.  I might also add that back in 1992, Hydro One -- or Ontario Hydro, I should say, we negotiated some extra duties into our regional maintainer classifications, for which we only paid 8 percent for those extra skills.  And I understand that OPG, they have introduced some skilled broadening in 2002, where they have provided a variety of different types of increases.

So I think it would be the same sort of answer.  But if you are just looking at general wage increases, perhaps.  But I think you have to explore it a little bit more and look at the other compensation that the successor companies are paying.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And that's fair enough.  I'm not intimately familiar with what exactly they looked at to get this chart and what they didn't.


Another possibility would be that they had put in some of the positions that you had left out?  Is that a possibility?


MR. MCDONELL:  Could be.  I wasn't involved in this.


MR. MILLAR:  Is it fair to say that when you're looking at compensation data and figures and comparisons, there is a number of different ways to look at these figures?  Is that fair enough?


MR. MCDONELL:  In terms of compensation?


MR. MILLAR:  Well, I mean, I see OPG has come up with one chart, and you have come up with another chart.  And it's not necessarily that either of them are wrong, but they seem to come to different conclusions while looking at similar data.


MR. MCDONELL:  Sure.  I would agree.  I mean, you could look at a variety of different aspects of compensation, sure.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you would permit me an observation, it always seems that we have a number of these successor companies to Ontario Hydro.  They all come before us for either rates or fees, and every time one of them comes forward, they always manage to produce a chart that shows that they are doing better than their -- than the other successor companies.

MR. MCDONELL:  I think you have to understand, though, the question that was posed to us, there are some limitations for us to be able to get the data.

We don't have the ability to get a lot of data from the successor companies.  We're able to extract what we can through published documents like collective agreements, but to get into issues like pensions and benefits, that's very difficult information to obtain.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, that's fair enough.

That aside, would you agree with me that the successor companies have all -- they appear to have, to one degree or another, arrived at different deals with their unions; is that fair to say?

MR. MCDONELL:  I think that is fair to say.

MR. MILLAR:  Some have put in incentive pay, some have not, and some have higher base wage increases, some have lower.

So that the fact that they're successor companies, that doesn't determine their staff compensation; is that correct?

MR. MCDONELL:  I really don't understand what that question is asking.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess there are five or -- I can't remember exactly how many there are.  There are several successor companies.  They have all come to different results ten years later?

MR. MCDONELL:  We have all gone our different ways, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So although you started at the same point, that doesn't mean that, by definition, you will end up at the same point?

MR. MCDONELL:  Oh, for sure not, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.

Okay, I am going to move on to the issue of retirements.  Do you have the transcript from day 2 handy?  It is just something I want to clear up.  There may not be an issue here, but I saw -- or I should say more accurately Staff saw something that didn't seem to mesh, so I would like to put it to you to see if we can get something cleared up.

MR. MCDONELL:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to turn to page 130?

MR. MCDONELL:  130, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Page 130 and line 12.  This was a discussion about the number of people who might retire in the test years.

MR. MCDONELL:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  I will read to you what Mr. Stenning said.  He said:
"We certainly don't expect that the entire complement of people, that as soon as they reach the ability to retire or cross over a certain threshold, that they will retire.  We actually have a model which, you know, looks at past history and estimates the percentage of people that will actually retire."

Then if you skip down to line 24 on the same page, he says:
"I think the existing model that we're working on assumes approximately a third of the people that are eligible to retire will retire."

Do you see that?

MR. MCDONELL:  I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to turn now to Board staff IR No. 39, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 39?

MR. MCDONELL:  I do have that.

MR. MILLAR:  Staff asked you a question.  I will just read it.  Question A says:
"What proportion of staff eligible to retire by December 31st, 2008 has filed notice that they will retire?"

Your response is:
"At the end of the third quarter 2008, 116 employees have retired or terminated eligible to retire with undiscounted pension, but elected to remove some or all of pension from the plan.  This represents 12.2 percent of those who are eligible to retire in 2008."

First of all, do you have an updated number for the entire year of 2008?

MR. MCDONELL:  No, I don't.  But I can say, just based on experience, it's going to be pretty close to that.  We don't tend to have a lot of people retire in the last two months of the year.

MR. MILLAR:  So it won't be a lot higher than 12.2 percent?

MR. MCDONNELL:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  And it certainly won't be a third; is that right?

MR. MCDONELL:  I could explain that.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe you could.

MR. MCDONELL:  Mr. Stenning was referring to a very small group of people, operators at the OGCC.  We do see a higher retirement rate for that very small classification, partly for the reason that they are on shift.  We don't have a whole lot of employees at Hydro One on shift.


But we do think that that is a significant factor for that particular group to have a higher retirement rate.  But, overall, for the company, it is about a 2.5 percent retirement rate.

MR. MILLAR:  I will ask you to help me a little bit more.  I think I am just not understanding.  The way I read the response to Board Staff IR 39 was that of all of the employees that you have eligible for retirement in 2008, 12 percent, or something more than that, will retire.

When I read Mr. Stenning's comments, I thought that to mean that they anticipated closer to a third would retire, something like 33 percent.  So maybe you could help me.  What am I missing?

MR. MCDONELL:  Mr. Stenning is referring to a very small group of employees at the OGCC.  I mean, I can give you a statistic.  In 2007, out of 16 employees that were eligible to retire of that fairly small group, four did retire, so that is about a 25 percent retirement rate.


He is just talking about a very small group of people that have sort of a unique feature that we see a higher retirement rate.

MR. MILLAR:  That's helpful.  I understand now.  If when I read this I understood that to mean that a third of the company's employees are eligible to retire or will retire, I should cleanse that notion from my mind, because the real figure is closer to 12 percent?

MR. MCDONELL:  I mean -- and I think you have heard these stats before.  Forty percent of our staff, come 2012, will be eligible to retire.  That does not mean 40 percent will retire.

MR. MILLAR:  It means something like 13 to 14 percent of 40 percent will retire, ballpark?

MR. MCDONELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I am glad I cleared that up.  Thank you.  I just have one final issue, and that relates to amounts closing to rate base.  Have I got the right panel for that?

MR. INNIS:  Yes, you do.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Could I ask you to turn up Board Staff IR No. 75, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 75?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.

MR. MILLAR:  You will see that Board Staff in its question referred you to an exhibit, I think in the prefiled evidence, and I want to ask you, in particular, questions about project D2, which is the Bruce-to-Milton project.


I assume you are familiar with that project?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, I am.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, in your original prefiled evidence, you had the in-service year as mid 2009 to late 2011, and you had the amount closing to rate base for both of the test years as zero dollars; is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  This is on the first page.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  Yes, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  Then you provided updated information with that IR response.  So if you flip over to page 2, we see project D2 again, and now you have the in-service times as mid 2010 to late 2011, and although the amount closing to rate base for 2009 is zero, for 2010 it is $100 million; is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, I sat on the Bruce-to-Milton case, the leave to construct case, and, as I recall, it is all -- it is all a single project.  It is one brand new approximately 200-kilometre 500 kV line that runs from the Bruce-to-Milton, is as the name would suggest.

So maybe you can help me.  I am sure there is a good explanation for this, but I would have thought it is either all closing to rate base, or none of it is closing to rate base.  Can you help me why $100 million of it would become used and useful, whereas the rest of it does not?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can.  Just one second, please.

Sorry, I apologize.  I'm going to refer you to Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 3.  Okay.  Sorry, I apologize for taking so long to find it.

So I am taking you to Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 3.  And in that -- unfortunately, these pages aren't numbered, but I am taking you through to reference number D2, which is roughly almost halfway through.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I have it.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So in this line the entire project will be ready for service in 2011, but there's one circuit, one phase of the project, where the actual link to the -- to one of the substations will actually be in place and energized in that period of 2010, and that's what the 100 million is.

I brought you here because I thought it was -- sorry.  It is there.  It's in the paragraph which starts "the OPA has urged Hydro One".  And if you take a look at near the second-last sentence, it says:

"The project will be undertaken in two phases to facilitate construction by taking advantage of the availability of transmission outages in '09 and '10 as a result of the planned outages at Bruce."

So it is being staged.  There is a small part that is going into service.

MR. MILLAR:  And what is Phase 1?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't have the details, but it would be easy enough to get.  It's, you know, from one place to another.  I'm sorry.  I don't have the details with me.

MR. MILLAR:  And you say it is energized, as in, it's actually carrying power?  Maybe we could do this:  If you're not sure, maybe I could ask for an undertaking to describe what Phase 1 is and how it is used and useful for the 2010 test year?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Absolutely.  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  So what's the next one?  That's J4.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.4:  TO DESCRIBE WHAT PHASE 1 IS AND HOW IT IS USED AND USEFUL FOR THE 2010 TEST YEAR

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Rogers, do you have re-examination?


MR. ROGERS:  I have no re-examination, thank you.
Questions by the Board:


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Well, I do have something.  Just one item.  I will take you back to J2.7, the two sets of tables.

And you have given an undertaking, I think, to Mr. Buonaguro, to explain the variance with respect to the TS upgrades to facilities for distributed generation.  Do you remember that?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And I believe you also explained how the -- I'm looking at the "variance" column again, under "inter-area network transfer capability" -- that there is a negative variance of 131 million in 2009 and a positive variance of 125 million in 2010, and I believe you explained that as primarily the result of deferring the work from 2009 to 2010?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Well, I would like to understand some of the other large changes -- or large variances.  And so I would request that you add them just to the existing undertaking.  And specifically I am interested in, looking at the "transmission capital plan" page, the -- a sort of a qualitative explanation for the negative variance in protection control, monitoring, and telecommunications, because I note it is negative in both years and, although not large in 2010, seems relatively large in proportion to the budget as a whole.


And similarly, for -- down under "development", the local area supply adequacy.  And finally, on transmission, the -- under "operations", the operating infrastructure.


And just finally, just one item on the OM&A tables.  And there I would be interested in an explanation for the significant amount over the minimum level in the area of power equipment for both 2009 and 2010.  Would you be able to provide those explanations?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  That's all I had.

So do we have any other matters before we finish for the day?


MR. ROGERS:  No.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So we will have panel 4 on Monday.  So this panel is excused, with the Board's thanks.  And we will resume at 9:30 on Monday morning.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:00 p.m.
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